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Mayur Resources is focused on the
development of natural resources in
Papua New Guinea.

The maturation of our diversified asset portfolio, which spans
industrial minerals, power generation, coal, copper and gold, will
contribute to nation-building and job creation in a country experiencing
a significant growth trajectory. Our unique portfolio of projects, many
in close proximity to world scale producing mines, are either on or
near the coast for easy development and access to domestic and
international seaborne markets.

Mayur Director, Mr Hubert Namani (right) reeeives CCL-Mining Lease 526 from the Mining Minister, Hon
Johnson Tuke (left) and MRA Managing Director, Mr Jerry Garry (centre)




Mayur Resources is committed to the
development of economic growth and
Nation Building of PNG, creating
pathways to local and national
prosperity.

Mayur's strategy is to build and develop a diversified portfolio of
resources and energy opportunities in a developing jurisdiction that:

e Is geographically well positioned to take advantage of
opportunities in both PNG and the wider Asia region

o Offers protection against the cyclical nature of commodities
through vertical integration

e Comprises projects that are positioned in the first quartile of the
global cost curve of comparable resource projects

We value all relationships, work together and strive to understand
and serve our stakeholders with respect.

We initiate sustainable outcomes, take responsibility and are open
and accountable.

We are resourceful. We solve problems and we constantly seek to
create value while adapting, developing and continually improving.

We commit. We keep our word, deliver results, and are professional
and ethical.
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Managing Director’s
Letter to Shareholders

Dear Shareholders

While the 2019/20 financial year was marked by unprecedented
turbulence and market volatility, the company remained tireless in
progressing its nation-building agenda in PNG and in realising the
full potential and value from our assets.

In July 2019 we lodged a Mining Lease application for our flagship
Central Cement & Limestone (CCL) Project. Within just 14 months,
having conducted extensive dialogue with the community, the MRA
and other government departments, the PNG Government awarded
an unprecedented 20-year Mining Lease for PNGs' first vertically
integrated lime and cement project. This represented the most
significant milestone for the company since IPO and was testament
to the dedication and effort of all involved.

In parallel with the above, and in conjunction with our advisors
(KPMG), we identified and shortlisted various key international
strategic investors for the project. These parties remain engaged in
seeking a position in the project that will serve markets in PNG,
Australia and the Pacific. Proximity to the Australian lime and
cement market, that is experiencing unprecedented structural
change, presents the project with a significant opportunity.

At our Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project, we completed the
design and selection of key equipment for the pilot plant stage and
mobilised to site to construct the enabling works. Whilst site works
remain on hold due to the onset of COVID-19, we hope to be able to
re-mobilise in early 2021. We also declared an upgrade in JORC
Resources and a 30 million tonne (Mt) maiden Ore Reserve. This
formed a key input to the completion of the DFS that was released
shortly after the financial year end, demonstrating Orokolo Bay to be
a low-cost operation with robust economics.

At Depot Creek, we concluded our shallow drill program and the
analytical assessment of samples. This resulted in an increase in
Inferred JORC Resources to 12.8Mt, including a higher confidence
Indicated Resource component of 3.9Mt. This now bolsters the
pathway for fuel supply to our CCL Project and Enviro Energy Park
(EEP) Power Project, whilst additional outcropping coal at surface in
the wider Depot Creek region have been independently assessed as
offering a 100Mt future coal exploration target.

During 2019 we received revised Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (EPC) bids for the Lae EEP project which include a
new alternative boiler design enabling use of up to 50% biomass
fuel and thus a lower utilisation of coal. We also provided a full
submission to the Department of Petroleum and Energy and
conducted several ministerial briefings (including the Prime Minister)
that has led to the subsequent preparation and a submission to the
PNG Government for a Power Purchase Agreement (previously
requested by State Owned Enterprise PNG Power Limited).

With our copper and gold portfolio the company assessed various
options during the first half of 2020. As announced in September
2020, a transaction has commenced to both acquire additional
assets and spin out the expanded portfolio into a separate vehicle
on the TSX-V. This initiative provides the company with a
streamlined focus on Industrial Minerals and Energy, whilst the new
Copper-Gold company will have a fully dedicated team focussing on
the development of their assets.

Whilst COVID-19 has restricted travel into and within PNG, the
company continued to facilitate in country activities and
communications during 2020. Cash preservation initiatives have
placed us in a strong position as restrictions continue to ease.

For all our projects in PNG, we are grateful for the support and
strong relationships we share with the government, communities
and landowners and remain committed to repaying their trust
through our nation-building strategy.

As Mayur's Managing Director and largest shareholder, 'm
encouraged by the continuing and steadfast support I've received
from the Board, our leadership team and major shareholders who
contribute to my confidence for the future. You can be sure we
remain committed to our nation building agenda in PNG and
realising the country’s incredible potential.

Yours sincerely

b,

Paul Mulder
Managing Director
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FY2020 Highlights

Summary of ASX announcements released during the Financial Year ending 30 June 2020

3 July 2019
Mining Lease application lodged for Central Cement &
Limestone Project.

Mayur submits a Mining Lease application with the Mineral
Resources Authority of Papua New Guinea for the Central Cement
& Limestone Project.

18 July 2019
Debt and equity team appointed to secure project
finance for Central Cement & Limestone Project.

Mayur appoints KPMG Corporate Finance to secure US$350 million
in project finance for its Central Cement & Limestone Project.

1 October 2019
Mining Warden’s Hearing conducted for the Central
Cement & Limestone Project.

Hearing conducted at the project site by the PNG Government's
Mineral Resources Authority to seek stakeholder feedback. It
followed an extensive community consultation program by Mayur
involving more than 35 formal awareness meetings.

30 December 2019
Phase 1 drilling campaign complete at Depot Creek Coal
Project.

Mayur completes the first phase of its JORC resource upgrade and
extension drilling program at its Depot Creek Coal Project. The
program included the completion of 45 shallow backpack rig holes.

6 January 2020
Geological surveys completed at Orokolo Bay and Depot
Creek projects.

Mayur seeks to delineate further JORC Mineral Resources and new
Ore Reserves at its Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project and Depot
Creek Coal Project after completing a regional Light Detection And
Ranging (LIDAR) survey across the assets.

11 March 2020
Landholder agreements signed for Central Cement &
Limestone Project.

The backing of local landholders emphasises the significant
community support for the project while providing major impetus for
the company’s Mining Lease application currently being assessed
by the Mineral Resources Authority.

26 March 2020
Pioneering and site enabling works completed for the
Orokolo Bay Pilot Plant.

Following the arrival of construction crew, mobile machinery, and
building materials at the Orokolo Bay project site by barge on 16
February 2020, Mayur completes site enabling works for a pilot plant
which will produce up to 100,000 tonnes of iron sands per annum to
provide test-scale shipments of product to potential offtakers.

28 May 2020
Resources upgrade announced at Orokolo Bay Project.

Mayur announces the overall resource estimate for the project
(Western + Eastern Areas) has increased over 40 percent from
172.7 to 243 million tonnes.

Subsequent Events (ASX Announcements released after 30 June 2020)

2 July 2020

19 August 2020

9 September 2020
11 September 2020
15 September 2020
16 September 2020

DFS Completed at Orokolo Bay Project

Mayur converts Measured & Indicated JORC Resources into Ore Reserves at Orokolo Bay Project
Granted 20 Year Mining Lease — Central Cement & Lime Project

New Gold projects acquired ahead of Copper & Gold Spin Out

Resources increased at Depot Creek Project

Mr Hubert Namani appointed as a Director to the Mayur Resources Board
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Projects Overview

Mayur Resources is focused on the development of natural
resources in Papua New Guinea.

Our purpose is to contribute to nation-building and job creation in a
country experiencing a significant growth trajectory.

Our strategy is to build and develop a diversified portfolio of
resources and energy opportunities in a developing jurisdiction that:

+ Is geographically well positioned to take advantage of
opportunities in both PNG and the wider Asia region.

+  Offers protection against the cyclical nature of commodities
through vertical integration.

& Cement & Lime

@ Industrial sands

6 Coal

(;j Energy generation

« Comprises projects that are positioned in the first quartile of the
global cost curve of comparable resource projects.

Mayur is currently advancing a number of projects spanning lime
and cement, industrial minerals, power generation, coal, copper and
gold.

Providing cheap, reliable and clean energy will improve
infrastructure and develop wealth creation industries while steel and
cement are fundamental for construction.

All projects are on, or in close proximity to, the coast for easy
development access and future access to sea borne markets.
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Central Cement & Lime
Project

The proposed Central Cement and Lime (CC&L)
Project is a vertically integrated manufacturing
facility that has the potential to meet 100% of PNG’s
cement, clinker and quicklime requirements,
displacing Asian imports.

Located on the coast, 25km north of the national capital, Port
Moresby, and 7km from the Exxon PNG LNG Refinery, the project’s
co-located quarry, plant site and deep draft wharf will enable very
low operating costs while providing direct access to both seaborne
domestic and export markets such as Australia and other South
Pacific nations. A DFS has been completed ascribing an NPV of
USD352m to the project.

Mining Lease

In July 2019 we lodged a Mining Lease Application for our flagship
Central Cement & Limestone (CCL) Project. The ML being the final
statutory approval required to allow construction to begin on what
will be PNG's first vertically integrated cement and lime
manufacturing facility

We worked through the Mining Lease application assessment
process with the PNG authorities and coordinated by the Mineral
Resources Authority. Signed all the necessary landholder
compensation agreements required for the development of the
Project. Continued with ongoing community engagement program to
keep stakeholders up to date on project progress, and the contents
of the project benefits package. This then culminated in the granting
of the ML in August 2020.

An artist’s impression of Mayur’s proposed Central Cement &
Limestone Project in Papua New Guinea.

Project Financing & Offtake

During 2019 the project equity raise process was commenced by
KPMG in parallel with the debt financing. Investor identification and
engagement was undertaken, with Mayur currently in dialogue with
a number of parties. including international strategic investors. While
site visits to PNG have been largely on hold, pending easing of
travel restrictions, other due diligence activities have been ongoing.

A variety of debt providers from around the world have also been
approached including commercial banks and export credit agencies.
Our debt lead arranger KPMG has received Letters of Interest from
several lenders wishing to participate in the debt financing of the
US$350 million project.

Product offtake activities progressed seeking to secure customers
both in PNG and Australia for the clinker, cement and quicklime
products. Meanwhile major shifts in Australia’s lime industry also
provide a major market opportunity with the announcement by Adbri
in June 2020 that Alcoa was not renewing its supply contract of
domestic lime, after having supplied Alcoa for 50 years. This being a
clear indicator that markets are hungry to source and utilise superior
quality, higher performing products, even from abroad, thus
diversifying and lowering their total costs and increasing
effectiveness of their consumable input products.

Our focus now is to expedite the quicklime development, by
finalising the EPC bids and securing equity funding to provide
customers and financiers with the confidence to move into
construction.
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Orokolo Bay Industrial
Sands Project

The Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project will
produce a number of products including titano-
magnetite, DMS magnetite, construction sands and a
zircon-rich valuable heavy mineral concentrate

Pilot Plant

During late 2019 orders were placed in China by our joint venture
partner, China Titanium Resources Holdings (CTRH), for the key
equipment process plant equipment. This included low intensity
magnetic separators (LIMS), mobile machinery, haul trucks,
excavator and a wheel loader. Fabrication of the steelwork for the
project also commenced, before experiencing delays in in finalising
procurement and assembly of the pilot process plant due to COVID-
19. In PNG, we mobilised to site in late 2019 and completed
pioneering and site enabling works for the pilot plant. Whilst site
works remain on hold due to the onset of COVID-19, we hope to be
able to re-mobilise in early 2021 subject to continued easing of the
pandemic.

Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project
Western Area
2020 Resource Block Model
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JORC Resource Upgrade

An infill Resource drilling program was completed in December
2019 followed by an airborne LIDAR survey. Then in May 2020,
Mayur announced the JORC Resource for the project had been
increased by over 40 percent from 172.7 to 243 million tonnes (cut-
off 5.25% Fe, on a combined basis of Western + Eastern Areas).
This increase was exclusively in the Western Area of the Project,
that lies within EL2305, which saw a rise from 139.2Mt to 209.5Mt.

In addition to the mineral sands (magnetite and zircon) resource
there was a 34% increase in the tonnage of construction sands from
86.0 to 112.8 million tonnes estimated in the Western Area. This
included for the first time an JORC “Indicated” category of
Construction Sands resource.

DFS

After the financial year end, Mayur announced the completion of a
Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) for the project. Underpinning a
simple, low CAPEX, and financially robust project with multiple
product revenue streams. The DFS has demonstrated a post-tax
(real) NPV of US$131 million (10% discount rate) and an IRR of
103.7% for the project.”

; Orokolo Bay
.wJndustrial Sands Project

Eastern
Resource Area

£:2020 MO 050 Corporati on"Earthstar «.~\-f-:;pr S SI

*Refer to ASX announcement ‘DFS completed for Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project’ dated 11 September 2020
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Amazon Bay Industrial
Sand Project

The Amazon Bay Project in Central Province has
significant potential for three high value product
streams: vanadium, titanium and iron.

Given the large amount of historic work that has been undertaken by
previous explorers at Amazon Bay over many years, we see this as
an ‘advanced exploration project’ bringing synergies with Orokolo
Bay. Previous exploration focused on Amazon Bay as a magnetite
resource without fully pursuing its titanium and significant vanadium
potential.

This project will allow Mayur to further grow its vanadium titano-
magnetite mineral inventory and target the opportunity to serve the
growing global demand for vanadium. Vanadium is both a key
ingredient for steel strengthening and large-scale energy storage
(i.e. Vanadium Redox Batteries) for the renewable energy sector
such as solar power and wind farms.

Port Moresby

Mayur has identified two main target prospects, Threadfin and
Barracouta, that together encompass a total area of 123 km2. The
area about Threadfin appears to provide reasonable continuity of
dune formation for +500 million tonnes (of sand) and this is the area
recommended for systematic sampling.

In October 2019, Mayur engaged specialist geophysical consulting
group Resource Potential to carry out additional data processing and
imaging at the project. The survey confirmed the Barracouta area is
traversed by a number of old river channels which could account for
the extensive gravels and clays at surface — the mineral sands are
likely concentrated within these gravels.

Further exploration is required to confirm the findings from the
previously completed test work. It will also serve to identify the most
optimal metallurgical processing route for the ore. Programmes were
put on hold due to COVID 19 travel restrictions and the company’s
cash preservation initiatives.

PORT MORESBY
[ J

°
Amazon Bay

Coastal plain view with mineral sands strandlines

/ FHREADFIN >
: g™
~Nis -

-

é%%msical signatures at Amazon Bay

Amazon Bay Project (EL 2556) |
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Enviro Energy Park
Power Project

Mayur’s proposed 52.5MW EEP Project comprises
an integrated, solar, biomass woodchip, and coal
plant in the city of Lae.

Located at the newly developed Lae Western Tidal Basin Port
precinct, is designed to improve reliability of supply and reduce the
cost and environmental footprint of power generation in the city by
displacing the current reliance on imported diesel and fuel oil.

The project will also produce steam as a by-product for industrial
users and 2MW of ancillary solar and be connected by a new
transmission line to the existing Ramu Power Grid.

During 2019 Mayur received revised Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (EPC) bids for the project which include a new
alternative boiler design enabling use of up to 50% biomass fuel and
thus a lower utilisation of coal.

Leading international ‘state-of-the-art’ power generation technology
will be employed to meet the stringent environmental requirements

imposed for the project. This technology will improve the current air
quality in Lae by reducing levels of nitrous oxide, sulphur dioxide
and particulate matter emissions from the current use of diesel /
heavy fuel oil.

The project is construction-ready and support from industry and all
levels of government remains strong. The project has already
received significant support from the Governors of both Gulf and
Morobe Provinces, as well as numerous other Ministers.

We also provided a full submission to the Department of Petroleum
and Energy and conducted several ministerial briefings (including
the Prime Minister) that has led to the subsequent preparation and a
submission to the PNG Government for a Power Purchase
Agreement (previously requested by State Owned Enterprise PNG
Power Limited)

Our immediate priority is to work with PNG Government on their
National Executive Committee directives with relevant Ministries and
State-Owned Enterprises i.e. PNG Power Limited.

A modern power station to provide Lae with access to
reliable, affordable and sustainable base load power
and steam

Wharf and cooling
water intake o

PORT MORESBY

Mail cogen facility

Fuel handling

Step up transformer /
grid interconnection
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Depot Creek Coal
Project

Mayur holds a prospective coal tenement portfolio in
Gulf Province, with a focus on the Depot Creek
Project.

In December 2019 the first phase of the Depot Creek resource
upgrade and extension drilling program was completed. The
program included the completion of 45 shallow backpack rig holes
reaching depths of up to 9m to test and confirm seam continuity
across the deposit. The field work also included the collection of 14
channel samples at various out cropping seams

All coal samples, including the drill core, were shipped to ALS in
Brishane for laboratory test work and coal quality analysis. Mayur's
technical consultants, Verum Group (previously CRL Energy), were
also on site during the program to provide oversight and obtain key
intelligence around logistics, access and local conditions. An
airborne Lidar geophysical survey was also flown across the Project
area in January 2020.

i Depot Creek Backpack Drilling Program

Nov - Dec 2019

Following completion of this work and after financial year end,
Mayur announced (on 15 September 2020) an increase in Inferred
JORC Resources at Depot Creek to 12.8 million tonnes (Mt) from
11.5 Mt, this included a higher confidence Indicated Resource
component of 3.9Mt.* The resource modelling work also identified a
new exploration target of >100Mt within the project tenement area
(excluding adjacent tenements which in aggregate and including
Depot Creek have an exploration target of approximately 200 Mt).

The proposed Phase 2 drilling at Depot Creek shall be scheduled
and prioritised with consideration to Mayur’s portfolio of other
projects. Delineation of additional resources and a reserve
alongside additional feasibility study work will encompass supplying
coal to the EEP Power Plant, the CCL project and for export.

Papua New Guinea

‘v\ Depot Creek Project

Channel Sampling

D Chanesl Sampling

Backpack Drilling

=
Diamond Drilling
D ana
® o

Coal Seams
Magped Sears

EL 1875
D Tenamest, Bounday
» |

Bachpack Dot Hows

|
i
'y 0 !
e S

* K

*Refer to ASX announcement ‘Resources Increased at Depot Creek Project in PNG’ dated 15 September 2020
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Copper & Gold
Portfolio

Mayur is undertaking a demerger of its Copper Gold
assets to realise portfolio value

During the year a geological mapping / sampling program and
geochemical assessment were completed at Konos. Several ELs
were renewed and dialogue continued with local landowners and the
MRA. Other programmes were disrupted, and field work was
constrained due to travel restrictions and the company’s
prioritisation of scarce resources related to COVID-19

As communicated during the year the Mayur Board assessed
several strategic options for the company with respect to the
company’s overall copper / gold portfolio. Subsequent to this and
after the financial year end, in September 2020, Mayur Resources
announced the company had reached an agreement to list its PNG
copper and gold assets on the TSX Ventures Exchange via a
Reverse Takeover (RTO).

Spin out will crystalize see through value
of copper and gold assets

LEGEND

Major Crustal Structure

] Mayur Assets

D Assets under acquisition AUSTRALIA

To enhance the value of the spin out, Mayur will acquire all the
shares in Ballygowan Limited and Pacific Arc Aurum (Niugini)
Limited, two privately-owned companies that hold highly prospective
gold assets in PNG including the Gameta and Wapolu projects on
the Fergusson Islands. The above agreements are interdependent
and together form the RTO transaction which will see Mayur own
around 50% of the renamed TSX Ventures Exchange company.

This transaction responds to calls from shareholders to streamline
our operations whilst providing the benefits of diversification which
has been one of our key appeals since listing in 2017.

Mayur shareholders will have exposure to a new entity with a highly
experienced and dedicated team that will make the most of our
significant gold inventory as well as retain ownership of our core
assets in a jurisdiction renowned for its geological endowment and
support of gold explorers and emerging producers.

*Refer to ASX announcement ‘New Gold Projects Acquired Ahead of Copper & Gold Spin Out’ dated 9 September 2020
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Tenement List

As at 30 June 2020 the Company had interests in the following

tenements, all located in Papua New Guinea:

=y Province Commodity focus Ownership Km?
1 2095* Milne Bay Copper / Gold 100% 150
2 2096* New Ireland Copper / Gold 100% 95
3 2594 Manus Copper / Gold 100% 522
4 2591 New Ireland Copper / Gold 100% 252
5 2150 Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 307
6 2266* Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 317
7 2267 Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 1,279
8 2268 Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 1,279
9 2269* Western Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 317
10 2297 Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 1,279
11 2304* Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 256
12 2305* Gulf Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 256
13 2556 Milne Bay Industrial Mineral Sands 100%" 1,405
14 2303* Central Limestone 100% 256
15 2616 Central Limestone 100% 55
16 1873* Gulf Coal 100% 256
17 1874* Gulf Coal 100% 256
18 1875* Gulf Coal 100% 256
19 1876* Gulf Coal 100% 256
20 2599 Gulf Coal 100% 48

Exploration Licence list (*ELs currently under renewal; “all industrial
mineral sands ELs are subject to the JV farm in deal with CRTH)
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JORC Resources & Reserves
2019/2020

Central Cement & Lime Project
Mineral Resources at 30 June 2020 (no change from 30 June 2019)

Measured Mineral Resources Estimate

Area Category CaO cut off % Tonnes Ca0%  AlO3; % Si02 %
Lealea Measured 52% 61,000,000 53.4 0.6 1.65
Kido Measured 52% 144,000,000 53.6 0.62 1.77
Total Measured 52% 205,000,000* 53.5 0.61 1.73
Indicated Mineral Resource Estimate

Lealea Indicated 50% 117,000,000 51.8 0.9 2.7
Kido Indicated 50% 11,000,000 51.5 0.6 1.1
Total Indicated 50% 128,000,000 51.8 0.9 2.6
Inferred Mineral Resource Estimate

Lealea Inferred 48% 7,000,000 48.1 1.1 2.5
Kido Inferred 48% 42,000,000 48.4 1.0 1.8
Total Inferred 48% 49,000,000 48.3 1.0 1.9

Ore Reserves at 30 June 2020 (no change from 30 June 2019)

Ca0f  ALO; Fe0s KO Mg0  NaO  Si0;  LOI

Area Reserves tM e % % % % % % % %
onnes
Kido Probable 45 54 0.5 0.3] 0.04 0.4 0.2 1.3 43
Lea Lea Probable 33 44 45 3 0.3 22 0.3 9.5 36
Total 78
Depot Creek Coal Project
Mineral Resources As at 30 Sept 2020 Mineral Resources As at 30 June 2019
2020 Seam Total Resources Inferred Indicated
(note renamed) (million tonnes) (million tonnes) (million tonnes)
A3B 1.3 1.3 -
A3 <0.1 <0.1 A3 and A2
A2 3.1 1.4 1.7 A2 4.2
A1 0.5 05 A1 0.2
A 6.7 45 2.2 D
D 1.1 1.1 - 4.59
C 24
Total 12.8 8.9 3.9 11.5
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Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project (Western Area)

Mineral Resources at 30 June 2020

5.25% (Fe cut off) Resource Estimates (Groundworks Plus)

Category Mt DTR % ‘Fe % ‘Ti % ‘Zircon ppm DTR Mt ‘Fe Mt Ti Mt Zircon t
Measured 1.64 10.08 11.35 1.94 712 0.17 0.19 0.03 1,170
Indicated 70.1 6.82 9.13 1.17 508 4.78 6.40 0.82 35,587
Inferred 137.8 5.43 8.19 1.02 454 7.48 11.28 1.40 62,622
Total 209.5 5.93 .53 1.08 474 12.42 17.87 2.25 99,378
Construction Sand Resource - Cut off 5.25% Fe (Western Area only)

Category Mt

Indicated 38.6

Inferred 74.2

Total 112.8

Mineral Resources at 30 June 2019
5.25% (Fe cut off) Resource Estimates (H&S Consultants)

DTR % ‘Fe % ‘Ti % ‘Zircon ppm‘DTR Mt Fe Mt Ti Mt Zircon t
Indicated 23.8 6.78 10.12 1.38 622 1.62 2.41 0.33 14,800
Inferred 1154 5.32 9.08 1.19 538 6.14 10.47 1.37 62,000
Total 139.2 5.57 .26 1.22 552 7.75 12.89 1.70 76,800
Construction Sand Resource - Cut off 5.25% Fe (Western + Eastern Areas)
Category Mt
Inferred 86.0
Total 86.0

Ore Reserve as at 30 June 2020 (announced 2 July 2020)
5.25% (Fe cut off) Reserve Estimate (Groundworks Plus)

Zircon Zircon Construction
ppm t Sand Mt
Proved 1.0 13.99 14.01 2.46 900 0.14 0.14 0.02 900 -
Probable 29.6 11.36 12.22 1.69 682 3.36 3.62 0.5 20,200 | 15.2
Total 30.6 11.45 12.28 1.72 689 3.51 3.76 0.53 21,100 | 15.2

Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project (Eastern Area)

Mineral Resources at 30 June 2020 (no change from 30 June 2019)

Eastern Area (7.0 % Fe cut off) Resource Estimates (H&S Consultants)

DTR % Fe % ‘Ti % ‘Zircon ppm DTR Mt Fe Mt Ti Mt Zircon t
Indicated 7.0 5.7 9.33 1.44 923 0.40 0.65 0.10 6,500
Inferred 26.5 5.2 9.00 1.39 921 1.00 2.39 0.37 24,400
Total 33.5 5.32 .07 1.40 921 1.40 3.04 0.47 30,900
Kabang (Feni) Project
Mineral Resources (Inferred) at 30 June 2020 (no change from 30 June 2019)
Mineral Zone Million tonnes Au g/t A0
9% | million 0z.
Domain 2 19.9 1.0 0.65
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Competent Persons
Statements

Statements contained in this Annual Report relating to Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves estimates for the Central Cement and
Lime Project are based on, and fairly represents, information and
supporting documentation prepared by Mr. Rod Huntley, who is a
member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr. Huntley has
sufficient and relevant experience that specifically relate to the style
of mineralisation. Mr Huntley qualifies as a Competent Person as
defined in the Australian Code for Reporting of Identified Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC) Code 2012. Mr Huntley is an
employee of Groundworks Pty Ltd contracted as a consultant to
Mayur Resources and consents to the use of the matters based on
his information in the form and context in which it appears. As a
competent person, Mr Huntley takes responsibility for the form and
context in which this initial Ore Reserves Estimate prepared for the
Central Cement and Lime Project appears.

Statements contained in this Annual Report relating to Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves estimates for the Orokolo Bay
Industrial Sands Project are based on, and fairly represents,
information and supporting documentation prepared by Mr. Troy

Lowien, who is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists.

Mr. Lowien has sufficient and relevant experience that specifically
relate to the style of mineralisation. Mr Lowien qualifies as a
Competent Person as defined in the Australian Code for Reporting
of Identified Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC) Code
2012. Mr Lowien is an employee of Groundworks Pty Ltd contracted
as a consultant to Mayur Resources and consents to the use of the
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it
appears. As a competent person, Mr Lowien takes responsibility for
the form and context in which this initial Ore Reserves Estimate
prepared for the Orokolo Bay Project appears

Statements contained in this Annual Report relating to Mineral
Resource estimates for the Feni (Kabang) Gold project are based
on, and fairly represents, information and supporting documentation
prepared by Mr. Simon Tear, who is a member of the Australian
Institute of Geoscientists. Mr. Tear has sufficient and relevant
experience that specifically relate to the style of mineralisation. Mr
Tear qualifies as a Competent Person as defined in the Australian
Code for Reporting of Identified Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves (JORC) Code 2012. Mr Tear is an employee of H&S
Consultants Pty Ltd contracted as a consultant to Mayur Resources
and consents to the use of the matters based on his information in
the form and context in which it appears. As a competent person Mr
Tear takes responsibility for the form and context in which the
Mineral Resource Estimate prepared for the Feni Gold appears.

Statements contained in this Annual Report relating to Mineral
Resource estimates for the Depot Creek Coal Project are based on,
and fairly represents, information and supporting documentation
prepared by Mr. Kerry Gordon, who is a member of the Australian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr. Gordon has sufficient and
relevant experience that specifically relate to the style of
mineralisation. Mr Gordon qualifies as a Competent Person as
defined in the Australian Code for Reporting of Identified Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC) Code 2012. Mr Gordon is an
employee of Verum contracted as a consultant to Mayur Resources
and consents to the use of the matters based on his information in
the form and context in which it appears. As a competent person Mr
Gordon takes responsibility for the form and context in which the
Mineral Resource Estimate prepared for the Depot Creek Coal
Project appears.
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIFECTOES' STATEMENT

The directors present their statement to the members together with the andited consclidated financial statements of
Maywr Resources Lid (the ‘Company”), and 15 subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and the balance sheet and
staternent of changes m equity of the Company for the financial vear ended 30 June 2020.

Opinion of the directors
In the opimon of the directors,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes m equity of the
as sat out on pages 10 to 50 are drawn up m accordance with the provisions of the Smzapore Companies

Act, Chap‘bﬂ'ﬁﬂ (the “Act™) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards Infemational (“SFRS(I)7) so as to give a
true and far view of the consolidated financial posihion of the Group and the financial position of the Company as

at 30 Jume 2020 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes mn equty and consolidated
cash flows of the Group and of the changes m equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date; and

(1) at the date of this statement. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company wall be able to pay its dabts
as and when they fall due.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Bobert Charles Neale

Paul Leva Mulder

Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley
Frank Terranova

Lu Eee Hong

Hubest Hanjause Namani (sppointed 16 September 2020)

In accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Assocation, Messis Fobert Charles Neale and Timothy
Elzon Saville Crossley refire and being shgible, offer themselves for re-slechon

Arrangement: to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of, nor at any time dunng the financial year was the Company a party to
any aTengement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, fo enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benafits by means of the acquisthon of shares in or debenfures of the Company or any other body corporate.

The Company has established a shared-based Emploves Incentrve Plan (EIF) to assist m the motivation, refenfion and
reward of contractors and employees. The EIP is designed to ahgn the mterests of executves and senior management
with the mterests of shareholders by prowviding an opportumty for the participants fo recelve an equity mferest in the
Company.

The EIP permits the grant of the following types of awards:

*  performance nghts;

#  pphons; and

*  loan funded shaves.
(collectivaly referred to as “awards™)

Dhnng the vear ended 30 June 2020, the Company 1ssued the following awards under the ETP:
Number issued  Exercisze Price

Vested performance rights awarded to emplovess as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) (1) 2,823,768 il
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MAYTUR EESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECTOES' STATEMENT

(i} Salory secrifice righis
Performance nights are granted to non-executrve directors, employess and contractors to receive shares in respect of a
portion of their agreed remumeration. Each performance mght will entitle the holder to receive one share The

performance nghts vest anmally ever four equal mstalments and can be exercised for no consideration at any time after
bemg granted but pricr to the expiry date of the rights.

The mmber of parformance rights to be 1ssued at each grant date 15 determined by dmading the salary amount to be paid
i the form of performance share nghts dnnded by the prevailing share price.

The followmg directors, who held office at the end of the financial vear, had, accordng to the register of directors’
shareholdngs required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an inferest in salary sacnfice rghts of the Company as
stated below:

Salary zacrifice right:
registered in the

name of directors
At the date of
Name of directors At 1.7.2019 thiz statemnent
Paul Levi Mulder 573,267 215955
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 388 828 266,767

(i) Long tarm incentive rights

Performance nghts are also offered as part of a2 Long-Term Incentive Plan to employees, execufive and non- executive
directors, contractors, and consultants, fo acqure shares mn the Company. The nghts will vest subject to the relevant

peﬁrmmmm&bﬂngmtndﬂmpam:lpanirmammgmph}red

The performance rights have a $nil exercise price and an expiry date of 5 years from the grant date and are subject to
the following vesting conditions that will be measuwred over a vesting penod of three vears from the date the Shares
were first quoted on the Avwstralian Stock Exchange (“ASIT).

# Tranche 1 (50% weighting): For Tranche 1 Awards to vest, the Share price at any time within the three-vear
wvesting period must be at a pnice 50% above the imizl publkc offering price for the volume-weighted awerage price
(VWAP) period for 10 days. The Tranche | performance rights were fully vested as at 30 June 2020;

#* Tranche I (15% weighting): For Tranche 2 Awards to vest, the Delvery Engineering and Project Development
Mhlestones as outlined m the Prospectus mmst be achieved wathin the westing peniod. The vesting condihon for the
Tranche 2 performance rights had not been satisfied as at 30 June 2020; and

* Tranche 3 (25% weighting): For Tranche 3 Awards to vest, there mmst be a matenial uphft to geclogical resowce
and reserve delineation as cuthined m the Prospectus within the vesting peniod. The Tranche 3 performance nghis
were fully vested as at 30 hune 2020,

Should anv of the Vesting Conditions not be met, the Awards related to that specific Tranche will lapse and be
forferted

The followmng directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had according to the register of dwectors’
shamholdmngs required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an imterest in long term mmcentive sacrifice nghts of the
Company as stated below.

Long term incentive rights
regiztered in the
name of directors
At the date of
Name of directors At 1.7.2019  thiz statement
Paul Lewa Mulder 3,000,000 3,000,000
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 1,925.000 1,925.000
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIFRECTORES' STATEMENT

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures (continued)
{7} Loan fimded shares

The Company issued loan funded shares to elimble employess (including emplovess, execufives and contractors)
selected by the Board.

Pursuant to the terms of the Emploves Incentive Flan, emplovess are granted an mmferest free himrted recowse loan to
assist in the purchase of Shares, with the Shares acquired at thewr market valne. The loan is lmited recowrse so that at
any time the employee may divest thewr Shares m full safisfachon of the loan balance.

The followmng directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had according to the register of dwectors’
shamholdmgs required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an mterest in loan fimded shares of the Company as
stated below:

Loan funded shares registered
in the
name of directors
At the date of
Name of directors At 1.7.201%9  thas statement
Frank Terranova 1,125,000 1,125,000
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 1925000 1,925.000

Drectors’ interests in shares, options and debentures

The followmg directors, who held office at the end of the financizl vear, had, according to the register of directors’
sharholdmgs required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an inferest in shares of the Company as stated below-

Number of ordinary shares

Shareholding: in which a
Shareholdings regiztered in the director iz
name of directors deemed to have an imterest
At the date of At the date of
Name of directors At 1.7.2019  thiz statement At 1.7.2019  this statement
Robert Charles Meale 149228 1492328 150,000 150,000
Paul Lewn Mulder 304,834 1,393 586 58,885,714 58,885,714

Timothy Elzon Saville Crossley 1,930,000 2,956,536 1,702,968 1705968
Frank Terranova 1.125,000 1,125,000 - -

The followmg directors, who held office at the end of the financyal vear, had, according to the register of directors’
shameholdmgzs required to be kept under sechion 164 of the Act, an interest in options of the Company as stated below:

Option: in
Options registered in the name which a director is
of directors deemed to have an mnterest
At the date of At the date of
Name of directors At 1.7.2019  thas statement At 1.7.2019  thas statement
Eaobert Charles Neale 74,614 - 75,000 -
Paul Lewn Mulder 3,000,000 3,000,000 - -
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 2,500 - 624375 -

Except as disclosed m the above tables, there was no change m any of the above-mentioned mterests 1 the Compary
between the end of the financial year and the date of ths statement.

Except as disclosed m this report, no drector who held office at the end of the financizl vear had an mterest m shares,
share ophons, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, esther at the begpmming of the financial
vear, or date of appombtment 1f later, or at the end of the finaneal year.
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIFECTORS' STATEMENT

Aundit, Rizk and Compliance Committes

The Andit, Risk and Comphance Commuttes (ARCC) camed out 1fs finchons in accordance with section 201B (5) of
the Singapore Compames Act, Chapter 50, meluding the followmg:

Feviewed the audit plans of the external auditers of the Group and the Company, and the assistance given by the
Group and the Company’s management to the externzal auditors.

Eeviewed the half-vearly and amnual financial statements and the auditor’s report on the annual finaneial
statements of the Group and the Company before thewr submizsion to the board of dwectors.

Eeviewed effectvensss of the Group and the Company’s matenal internal comfrols, including financial
operational and compliance controls.

Met with the external auditor, other committees, and manzgement m separate execufve sessions to discuss amy
maztters that these groups believe should be diseussed privately wath the ARCC.

Reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may hawve a matenal impact on the financial statements, related
compliance policies and programmes and any reports recerved from regulators.

Feviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor.
Feviewed the nature and extent of non-audit serices provided by the external auditor.

Eecommended to the board of directors the external auditor to be pominated, approved the compensation of the
external auditor, and reviewed the scope and results of the andit.

FReported actions and minutes of the ARCC to the board of drectors with such recommendations as the ARCC
considered appropnate.

The ARCC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, 15 satsfied that the
nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external audrtor.

The ARCC convened two meetings during the year with full attendance from all members. The ARCC has also met
with the external auditors, without the presence of the Compary’s management, at lezst once 3 year.

Independent auditor

The imdependent auditor, Baker Tilly TFW LLP, has expresszed 1ts willingness to accept re-appoiniment.

Om behalf of the Board of Dhrectors
,-ﬁ P L /’rf’
~ g = ~ —
l.- *-'k"{ I ” K /f )
Paul Levi Mulder Frank Termanova
Dhrector Dhrector

30 September 2020 30 September 2020
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Singapare 18877E
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S EEPORT TO THE MEMEERS OF T: +65 BE36 2829
MAYTUR RESOURCES LTD www. bakertilly. =g

Eeport on the Andit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financmal statements of Mayur Resowrces Lid (the *“Company™) and itz subsidianes
(the “Group™) as set out on pages 10 to 50, which comprse the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company as at
30 Fune 2020 and the consclidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive meome, consclidated statement
of changes in equity, consohdated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes n equity of the
Company for the finaneial year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a3 summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opimion, the accompanying consohidated finaneial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of
changes m equity of the Comparmy are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Compames Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act™) and Singapore Finaneial Reporting Standards (Infernational) (“SFRS(I)™) so as to grve a tme and
fair view of the consohdated financial posibion of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 June
2020 and of the conschdated finaneial performance, consohdated changes m equity and consobdated cash flows of the
Group and of the changes m equity of the Company for the financial vear ended on that date.

We conducted our amdit In accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“55As™). Our responsbilities under
those standards are firther desenbed m the duditor s Responsibilitie: for the Audit of the Financial Statemenis sechon
of our report. We are mdependent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Aecoumtants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code)
together with the eflucal requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements m Singzpore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibibities in accordance with these requrements and the ACEA Code We beheve
that the audit evidence we have obtained 15 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opmion.

Marerial Uncertainty Relared to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements. As at 30 June 2020, the Group incwrred a loss for the vear of
AS3 720,399 (2019: AS3.308,550), net cash outflows from operating activities and mmvesting activifies of A%3,178,105
(2019: A%2 511 574) and A%4 542 753 (2019: A$6.473 481), respectively. These factors indicate the existence of a
material uncertamty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

If the Group is umable to continue operational eastence for the foreseeable future, the Group may be unable to
discharge 1tz abiliies m the normal course of business and admstments may bave to be made to reflect the situation
that assets may need to be realised other than m the pormal course of business and at amounts which could differ
sigmficantly from the amounts at which they are cumently recorded in the balance sheet. In addihon, the Group may
have to pronide for further hizbilites that may anse and to reclassify non-cwrent assets as current assets. Mo such
adjustments have been made to these finanezl statements. Chr opinion 15 not modified m respect of this matter.

Key Audir Marters

Eey audit mafters are those matters that, in owr professional judsement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the cwrent financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of ouwr audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in formmg our opineon thereon, and we do not provide a separate opimon on these
matters. In addition to the matter descnbed m the Matenal Uncertamty Related to Gomg Concern section, we have
determumed the matter desenbed below to be key audit matter to be commumicated m our report.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP (frading a= Baker Tilly] i= & member of the global netwark of Baker Tilly Imternational Ltd., the membars of which are
separate and indepandent legal enthas

Baker Tilly TFW LLF {Registration Mo. T10LL1483103) I an anccounting limited liability pernership registered in Singapore under the
Limited Liability Partnerzhigs Act [Chapter 163A).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORE"S EEFORET TO THE MEMBERS OF

MAYUR EESOURCES LTI (continued)

Eeport on the Audit of the Financial Statement: (continned)

Key Andir Manters {continued)

Impairment of exploration and evalnation expenditure
Reffer ro Nores 2(p). 3 and 10 ro the financial starements

The Group 13 mvolved m exploraton and
evaluafion activities with a foens on Industrial
Minerals, Copper/Gold and Cozl. The Group
has exploraton lLeenses and prospectve
projects m Papua New Gumea.

Exploration and evaluzton expenditure totahing
AS$33260,840 as disclosed in Motes 3 and 10
represent a sigmificant balance recorded m the
consobidated balance sheet

SFRS(T 6 Explovation for and Evaluation of
Mineral Resources requires the exploration and
evaluafion assets to be assessed for impairment
when facts and cireumstances sugpest that the
carving amount may exceed Its recoverable
amount.

As described m MNote 3 to the financial
statements, manzgement performed assessment
of potenfial mdicators of mpamment at 30 June
2020 in accordance with the accounting policy
diselosed m Mote 2(p) which requred
management to meke certain estimates and
assumpiions as fo  fohwe events and
circumstances.

Char procedures included, amongst others:

= FEvaluated the Group’s accounting pohicy to
ensure  the policy complies with the
requrements of SFRSI) & Exploration for
and Evaluwation of Mineral Resources;

= Obtained an understandmyz of the status of
ongoing explorzhon programmes and futare
infentions for the areas of mterest, meluding
future budgeted spend and related work
Programmes;

= Enmqured of management and reviewed ASH
ammouncements and momites of directors’
mestings to enswe the Group had net
decided to disconfimue exploration and
evaluation at 1fs areas of inferest;

= Considered mapapement’s assessment of
potential mdicators of Imparment;

= Verified a sample of addihons to the Group’s
exploration and evalnation assets for the
financial year ended 30 June 2020 to sappart
evidence of activities camed ouf; and

= Venfied that each explorston Lkeence
remams valid m respect of sach tenement
through the review of official government
documentation.

We also assessed adequacy of the related
disclosures made mm Note 10 to the finanecral
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORE"S EEFORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MAYUR EESOURCES LTI (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Other Informanon

Management 15 responsible for the other mformation. The other mformation comprizes the Directors’ Statement as set
out on pages | to 4, which we obtamed prior to the date of this auditor’s report but does not mchude the financial
mtemeujsandnmaudlm’smpm'tﬂ:ﬂmn The Anmual Report 1= expected to be made avalable to us after the date of
this amditor’s report.

Chir opimon on the financial statements does neot cover the other mformation and accordmgly we do not express any
form of aszurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibality 1s to read the other mformation and, m doing
so, consider whether the other mmformaton 15 matenally inconsistent with the finaneial statements or owr knowledga
obtained in the audit or otherense appears to be materially misstated If, based on the work we have performed on the
other information obtzined prior to the date of this anditor’s report, we conchude that there is 3 material misstatement of

this other mfoamation we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report m that regard.

When we read the anoual report, if we conclude that there 15 2 material pusstatement therein we are requed to
commumcate the matter to the management and take appropriate actions m accordance with S5As,

Responsibalines of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management 15 responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and far view m accordance with
the provisions of the Act and SFES(I), and for devising and mamtaming a system of intemnal accountmg controls
sufficient to provide a reasomable asswence that assets are saferuarded agamst loss from wmauthonsed use or
disposition; and transactions are properly suthonized and that they are recorded as necessary to perout the preparastion of
true and far financial statements and to maintain accountability of assats.

In preparing the financial statements, management 15 responsible for assessing the Group's ability to contirme as a going
concern, disclosmg, as apphicable, matters related to going concern and wsing the geing concern basis of accounting
unless the directors erther infend to hqmdate the Group or to cease operafions, or has no reahistic alternative but to do

S0

The director's responsibiliies mclode oversesing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR S FEFORET TO THE MEMBERS OF
MAYUR EESOURCES LTI (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responnbilities for the Audir of the Financial Statemenis

Chr ohjectives are to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material musstatement, whether due to fraud or emor, and to issue an auditer’s report that meludes our opmion

Eeasonable

Eal:nghlmﬂufasmh:r:lsnuta guarantee that an audit conducted m accerdance wath the

5545 wall always detect 3 material misstatermnent when 1t exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or emor and are
considered material if, mdradually or m the agzsregate, they could reasonably be expected to mfluence the econcmme
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the 55As we exercise professional judgement and mamtain professional
seephicism througheut the andit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or emor,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those nsks, andub‘l:maudltmﬁ.eu.ceﬂlat]ss:ﬁclmand
appropriate to provide a basis for owr opinion. The nsk of not deteching a material misstatement resulting from
fraud 15 lagher than for one resuliing from error, as frand may mvolve collusion, forgery, intenfional omissions,
musrepresentations, or the ovemde of mternal contrel.

Obtain an understanding of mtemal control relevant to the audit in order to design amdit procedures that are
appropriate in the coroumstances, but not for the pupose of expressing an opimion on the effectivensss of the
Group’s mtermal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasomableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conchude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained whether 2 ma.hmalmnzrhmtymuslsrelatedtn events or condifions that may cast
sigmificant doubt on the Group’s abibity to continue as 3 going concern. If we conclude that 2 material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in cur auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, fmchdﬁclmmmadeqtutgtﬂmd:ﬁrﬂu:mmm Cur conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtamed up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, fuhwre events or condibons may cause the Group to cease
to confinue 35 3 E0INg COnCaIm.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, meluding the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the wnderlying transactions and events m a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial mformation of the entifies or busmess activites
within the Group to express an opimon on the consolidated financial statements. We are responzmible for the
direction, supervision znd performance of the group andit. We remain solely responsible for owr audit opmion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S EEFORT TO THE MEMEERS OF
MAYTUR EESOURCES LTD {continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements {continued)

Auditor’s Respensibiliies for the Audir of the Financial Statements {continued)

We commmmcate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and tming of the audit and
sigmficant audit findmes, inchiding any significant defictencies in infermal control that we 1dentify dunng our audit.

We also provide the divectors with a statement that we have comphed with relevant ethical requrements regarding
independence and to commmmicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence. and whers applicable, related safepuards.

From the matters commumicated with the directors, we deternune those matters that were of most agmficance i the
audit of the financal statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
i our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
clircumstances, we determine that a matter should pot be compmmicated m our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to cutweigh the public mmterest benefits of such commmmication.

Eeport on Other Legal and REegulatory Regquirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations meorporated in Singapore of which we are the awditors have been property kept mn accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partmer on the audit resulting in this mdependent auditor’s report 1= Chan Sek War

/| _
['3 aka LW

Baker Tilly TFW LLP
Public Accountants and
Charterad Accountants
Singapore

30 September 2020
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial yvear ended 30 June 2020

Czroup
2020 2019
Mote AS A

Revenue and sther income 4 169,991 36,109
Less: expenses

Consultants and contractors (1,261,506) (754.959)
Femuneration to diectors and key management (415087) (372,706)
Travel expenses (240,618) (342 893)
Imparment of exploration and evaluation expenditure 10 (219,71T) -
Listing and share registry expenses (179,018) (105 ,906)
Aunditors” remumeration 5 (1658,429) (156,004)
Share-based payments expense 16{k) (561,942) (666,359)
Insorance (117,080) (97.892)
Investor and public relations expense (93,385) (203,923)
Depreciation expense k) (26,441) (19.136)
(Other operating expenses (607, 186) (674.881)
Lozs before income tax expense (3,710,399 (3,308,550)
Tax expense 7 - -
Loss for the year {3,720,399) (3,308 550}
Other comprehensive income for the vear, net of tax - -
Taotal comprehensive loss for the year (3,720,399) (3.308,550)
Lazs for the period attributable to:

Cramears of the Company (3,720,399) (3,295,739
Mon-controlling inferests - (12811}

(3,720,399) (3,308.550)

Total comprehensive loss for the pertod attributable to:
Cramers of the Company {3,720,399) (3,295,739
Mon-confrolling interasts 11 - (12,811}

(3,720,399) (3,308,550)

Basic and diluted loss per shame aftributable to owners of
the Company (cents per share) g (2.17) (2.0}

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTIy AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 30 June 2020
Group
0o 019
Note AS A3

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equpment 9 2,490,856 2118410
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 10 33,260,840 28 983,036
Taotal non-current assets 35, 751696 31,101 446
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1,985,147 2,799,951
Crther receivables 13 301,579 148,165
Total current assets 3,290,716 2948116
Total asset: 30042422 34,049 562
Current Labilites
Trade and other payables 14 863,020 2199554
Total current liabilities 863,920 2199 554
Total liabilities 563,910 219955
Net assets 38,178,502 31,850,008
Equity
Equity artributabls to owners of the Company
Share capital 15 40,048,549 36,976,495
Eeserves 16 1,414,698 2,730,951
Accummlated losses {12,284,745) (8,564 346)

38,178,502 31,133,100
Non—controlling interests 11 - 716,908
Total equity 38,178,502 31.850.008

The accompanying notes form an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
BALANCE SHEET
At 30 June 2020

Mote
Non-current assets
Investments m subsidianes 11{b)
Total non-current azsets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12
(Other current assats 13
Recervables from subsidianes 18
Total current azzets

Total azsets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14
Total current liabilities

Total hiahilities

Net azzets

Equity

Eguity attributabls to ovwnerz of the Company

Share capital 15
Eeserves 16
Apcwmmlated losses

Total equity

The accompanying notes form an mmfepral part of these finaneial statements.
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Company

0zo 2019

AS At
13,859,295 10,770,146
13.850.205 10,770,146
2871447 2,143 802
225062 116,303
21,742,571 22,857,183
24 841,030 25117,088
38700375 35 887,234
542,969 1,716,283
542 969 1,716,283
542 969 1.716283
38157 406 34,170,951
49 048 549 36,976,495
£,050,100 6,984,113
(18,541 24%) (9,789 65T)
38157 406 34,170,951
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MAYTUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Group MNon-
Share Accumulated  comtrolling Total
2020 capital Eezerves loszes interests Equuity
A% Af Af
Balance az at 1 July 2019 36,976,495 2,720,951 (B,564,346) T16908 31,850,008
Loss for the vear - - (3,720,399 —  (3.,720,399)
Total comprebenszive loss for the year — — (3,720,399} — (3,720,399}

Transzactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:

Iz=ue of erdinary shares 11 485 766 - - — 11485766
Costs of shares issuance (2,554 363) - - - (2,554363)
Acqusition of non-conirolling inferests in
subsidiaries 3,089,148 (23722400 - {716,908) -
Share based payvments (Note 1&6(b)) - 1,065,987 - - 1,065,987
Shares 1s=ued m hen of cash
remumnerations 51,503 - - - 51,503
Total transaction: with owners in their
capacity as oWners 12072054  (1.306.253) - {716.508) 10048 B93
Balance az at 30 June 2020 49 048 549 1414698  (12.284.745) - 38178502
Group MNon-
2019 Share Accumulated controlling Total
capital Eezerves loszes interests Equity
A% A% AS

Balance az at 1 July 2018 36,667,443 (696,051) (5,268,607) 729,719 31432504
Lass for the vear - - (3,295.739) (12811}  (3,308,550)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (3.295.735) (12811} (3 .308,550)
Transactions: with owners in

their capacity as owners:
Shares 1s=ued pursuant to the

exercise of options 309,052 - - - 309,052
Share based payments (Mote 16(b)) - 3,417,002 - - 3.417.002
Total transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners 309,052 3417002 - - 3,726,054
Balance az at 30 June 2019 36,976,495 1,720,951 (8,564,346) 716,908 31,850,008

The accompanying notes form an mtegral part of these financial statements,
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial vear ended 30 Junme 2020

Company
Share Accumulated Total
2020 capital Bezerves lozzes Equity
AS AS AS AS
Balance as at 1 July 2019 36,976,495 6984113 (9,789,657 34,170,951
Loss for the financial year - - (9,151 586)  (9.151.586)
Total comprehensive los: for the financial year - - (9.151 586) (9,151 586)
Tranzactions with owners in their capacity as
OWners:
Issue of ordmary shares 11 485,766 - — 11485766
Costs of shares 1ssuance (2,554 363) - - (2,58.363)
Acquisition of non-controlling mierests i
subaidianes 3,089,148 - - 3,089,148
Share based payments (Mote 16(b])) - 1,065 987 - 1,065,987
Shares 1ssued m hien of cash remunerations 51,503 - - 51,503
Total tranzactions with owners in their capacity
A5 OWHErs 12,072,054 1,065 987 - 13138041
Balance as at 30 June 2020 49,048,549 8,050,100 (15941,243) 38157406
Company
Share Accumulated Total
1019 capital Rezerves lozses Equity
A% AS AS Af

Balance as at 1 July 2018 36,667 443 3,567 111 (6,950,930 33,283,622
Loss for the financial year - - (2838725 (2B3B.725)
Total comprehenszive loss for the financial year - - (2838725 (2838.725)
Tranzactions with owoers in their capacity as
oWners:
Shares 1ssued pursuant to the exercise of

options 309,052 - - 309,052
Share based payments (Mote 16(b)) - 3417 002 - 3417002
Total transactions with owners in their capacity
A5 OWHErs 309,052 3417002 - 3,726,054
Balance as at 30 June 201% 36,976,495 6,954,113 (9,789,687 34,170,951

The accompanying notes form an mtegral part of these financial statements,
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial vear ended 30 June 2020

Loss before tax
Admstments for:
Interest incomes
Share based payment expense
Depreciation expense
Impanmsent of capitalised explorstion and evaluation
expenditure
Met forerzn exchange gain
Total adjustments
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Changes in working capatal:
{(Increase)'decrease mn trade recervables and other
current assefs

{Drecrease)increase in trade and other payables
Total changes m working capital
Cash flows used in operations
Interest recerved
Net cash flows uszed in operating activities

Cazh flow from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equpment
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditire
Net cash nsed in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from share 1ssue - parent

Cost of 1ssuing shares

Bepayment of bommowings - Siecap

Fepayment of bommowings - Shareholders

Net cash provided by/{used in) financing activities

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at begimning of financial year
et merease{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Foreizn exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial vear

Croup
2020 e
Note AS AS
(3,720,399} (3,308 5500
4 (14,523 (66,854)
164k) 561,942 666359
b} 26,442 19,136
10 219727 -
(92 ,962) (19,255)
700,620 590336
(3,019,779 (2,709, 164)
(75,492} 112836
(97,363} 17,900
{172 855) 130,736
(3,192 634) (2,578.428)
14,529 66,854
(3,178,105} (2,511.574)
(319,719) (552,643)
- 6B BR7
{4,223 034) {5,989 725)
{4,542 755) {6,473 481)
15 94450593 309052
15 {313,691) -
{1,036,383) (823,382)
— (256.619)
7,895,019 (770,549
2,799,951 12,533,142
174,161 (9, 756,004)
14,035 22813
12 2 988,147 2799951

Thke accompanying notes form an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARTES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

L5
H

Corporate information

Mayur Resources Lid (the “Company™) (Ce. Beg No. 201114015W), 15 a limuted liability company
mecrporated in Simgapore. On 2] September 2017, the Comparny listed on the Anstrahan Stock Exchange.

The remstered office of the Company 15 located at B0 Fobinson Foad #02-00 Singapore 068393, The
principal place of business is Level 7, 300 Adelaide Street, Brishane (LD, 4000, Australia.

The princrpal actnvity of the Company 15 mvestment holdmg. The pnneipal activities of the subsidianes are
disclosed m Note 11 to the financial statements.

The Company’s shares are hsted on the Australian Stock Exchanpe under the ticker code MEL.
Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are expressed in Austrabian dellar (“AS™), which is the Company's functional
curency. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the hustorical cost basis, except
a5 disclosed in the accounting pobicies below, and are drawn up m accordance with the provisions of the
Smgapore Compames Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”™) and Singapore Financial Reporfing Standards
{Internatiomal) (“SFES(T)7).

Histonical cost 15 generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services. Far value 15 the price that would be recerved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a habilhity mm an
orderly transachon betwesn market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 15
directly observable or esimated using ancther valuation technique In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liabality, the group considers the characterishes of the asset or habihty which market parbcipants
would conmider when pricing the asset or liabality at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and'or disclosure pupeses m these consohdated financial statements 15 determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment tramsactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment and
mezsurements that have some smilamties fo far value but are not fair value, such as valuwe In use m
SFRS(T) 1-36 Immpamrment of Assets. In addibon, for financial reportng puposes, far value measmrements
are categorized mio Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degres to which the mputs to the far value measwrements
are chservable and the sigmificance of the mputs to the far valuwe measurement m its entivety, which ame
desenbed as follows:

{a) Level 1 mputs are quoted prices (imadjusted) m active markets for 1dentical assets or habilihes that the
entity can access at the measirement date;

(b} Lavel 2 imputs are mputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
aszet or hability, either divectly or mdwectly; and

(2) Lavel 3 inputs are unobssrvable inputs for the asset or habuty.

The preparation of financial statements m conformuty with SFRS(T) requires the uwse of eshmates and
assumphons that affect the reported amowunts of assets and halbifies and disclosure of contingent assets and
hiabilitties at the date of the financal statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng
the financal year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledze of cwmrent events
and actions and historical expenences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, achual results may ultimately differ from those esimates.

The Company’s separate financial statements have been prepared on the same basiz, and as permmtted by

the Act the Company's separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive mcome 15 not
presented.
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MAYTR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial vear ended 30 June 2020

-

Summary of sdgnificant accounting policies (continuesd)
a) Basiz of preparation (continued)
Lze of astimates and judgements

The sstimates and underhying assumphons are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Eevisions fo accounbng
estimates are ecogmsed m the period m which the estimate 15 revised if the revizion affects only that penod,
or in the penod of the revision and future periods if the revizion affects both cwrent and future perods.
Crfical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the financial statements, and areas
invelang a major degres of judzement or complexnty, are disclosed in Note 3.

The camying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other cwrent recervables and pavables
approximate ther respective fair values due to the relatrvely short-term matunty of these finaneial
Instruments.

b) DNew and revized stamdards

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previeus financial vear except that in the
cmrent financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted zll the new and amended SFES(T) and
SFRES(I) Interpretations (“SFES(T) INT") which are relevant to the Group and the Company and are
effectrve for antmal financial periods beginning on or after 1 Tuly 2019, The adoption of these standards did
not have any matenal effect on the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company.

Mew standards, amendments to standards and mterpretations that have been 1ssued af the balance sheet date
but are not yet effactrve for the financial year ended 30 Fune 2020 have not been apphed m preparing these
financial statements. MNone of these are expected to have a sigmificant effect on the financial statements of
the Group and the Company.

¢} Subsidiaries

Subsidianes are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group 1s exposed
to, or has nghts to, vanable retums fom its mvelvement with the exhty and has the abality to affect those
returns through 1ts power over the enfity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, mmvestments m sabsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accummlated
imparment losses. On disposal of the mvestments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the mvestments are recogmsed m profit or loss.

d) Basiz of consolidation

The conschdated financial statements comprse the financial statements of the Company and 1ts subsidianes
as at the balance sheet date. Subsidianes are consohdated from the date on which the Group obtains control
and continue to be consohdated unhl the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent compary.
Consistent accounting policies are apphed for hke fransactions and events in simmlar crcumstances.

Intraproup balances and transachions, mehudng meome, expenses and dividends, are elimvnated m full
Profits and losses resultmg from intragroup transactions that are recogmised in assets, such as mventory and
property, plant and equpment. are elinnnated m full.

Subsidianes are conschdated from the date of acqmsihon, bemng the date on wiuch the Group obtains
confrol, and continue to be consohidated wmtil the date that such control ceases.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial vear ended 30 Junme 2020

-

Summary of dgnificant accounting policies (continued)
e} Baszis of combination

Busmess combinafions are accounted for using the acqmsiton method The conmiderzhon transferred for the
acquisifion comprises the far value of the assets transferred, the liabilities moumred, and the equity mterests
issued by the Group. The comsideration tansferred alse includes the far walue of amy confingent
considerafion arangement and the far value of any pre-existing equity imferest m the subsidiary.
Acqusiton-related costs are recognised as expenses as mowred. Identifizble assets acquired and labilites
and contngent habibfies assumed 1n 2 busmess combinahon are measwred mitialhy at their far values at the
acquisiiion date.

Anv excess of the far value of the conmiderstion transferred in the business combination, the amount of amy
pon-controllng mterest m the acquiree (1f any) and the far value of the Group's previously held equty
interest in the acquires (if any), over the farr valoe of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on
bargain purchase in profit or loss on the date of acquisition

HNon-controlling mterests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a submdiary
atinbutable to the mterests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity bolders of the Company.
They are shown separately in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
aquity and balance sheet Total comprehensive income 15 atmbuted to the non-controlling miterests bazed on
their respective inferests in a subsidiary, even if the subaidiary meurred losses and the losses allocated
excead the non-controlling interests m the subsidiary’s equity.

For non-controlling interests that are present ownership inferests and entitle therr holders to a proporbionate
share of the acquires’s net assets m the event of lLgwidation, the Group elects on an acqusion-by-
acqusiion bams whether to measure them at fawr value, or at the non-controlling mterests" proportionate
share of the acquires’s pet 1dentifiable assets, at the acqusition date. All other non-controlling mierests are
meanured at acquisthon-date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured
to faur value at the acquisition date and any cormmesponding gain or loss 1s recogmsed in profit or loss.

Changes m the Company’s ownership inferest m a subsidiary that do not remalt m a loss of control are
accounted for as equty transactions (le transachions with owners in thew capacity as owners).

When a change m the Company’'s ownership mterest m a subsidiary results m a loss of confrol over the
subsidhary, the assets and halibihes of the mubadiary meludng any goodwill are derecogmsed. Amounts
recognised i other comprehensive income m respect of that extity are also reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retamed earmings if required by a specific SFRS(T).

Any retained equity mierest m the previous subsidiary 15 remeasured at far value at the date that control 15
lost. The difference between the canymye amounts of the retamed imferest at the date control 15 lost, and it
fair value 1s recopmised m profit or loss.

f) Foreizn currency

Functional and presemtation currency

Iterns included in the financial statements of each entity m the Group are measured using the owrency of the
primary economic emvironment m whech the eniity operates (“the fimetional cumency™). The financial
statements of the Group and the Company are presented m Awstrabian dollar, which 15 the Company’s
functional cumency.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial vear ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of spmificant accounting policies (continuad)
f) Foreizn currency (cont’'d)
Transactions and balances

Transactions in a cmrency other than the fimetional currency (*“foreign cwrency™) are translated into the
ﬁmhmdcmmmgﬂleunhmgzmsmmﬂmgatﬂmdxtﬁnfﬂmmm Cwrrency translation
zams and losses resulting from the settlement of such tansactions and from the tanslation at year-end
sxchange rates of monetary assets and hiabibtes denominated in foreipn cwrencies are recogmsed m profit

or loss, except for ourency translation differences on pet mvestment in foreipn operstions and borrowngs
mdu&zmmmmmbqtuhﬁnngasmtmvﬁhmthedgu for foreign opershons, which are
included in the cwrency fransaction reserve within equity m the consobdated financial statements.

Mon-monetary items measured at fair values m foreign currencies are translated usmg the exchange rates at
the date when the fair values are determined

Translation gf Group entities " financial stafements

The results and financial posthon of all the Group entites (nome of whech has the cwrency of a
bypennflabonary economy) that have a fimctonal cwrency different from the Group's presentaton
curmency are franslated info the presentation currency as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the date of the balance sheet;

(b} Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the awerage is not a reasonable
approximation of the cummlative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, m which caze
meoome and expenses are franslated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and

(e} All resulting exchange differences are recogmsed in the cormency translation reserve withm equty.

On conschidafion, exchange differences ansng from the translation of the net mvestment mn foreign
operations (including mopetary ttems that, In substance, form part of the et imvestment in foreizn entities),
and of borrowings and other corrency mstuments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the
foreign corrency translation reserve.

On dizposal of 2 foreipn proup entity, the cwnulatve amount of the cwrency translabon reserve relating to
that foreipn entity is reclassified from equity and recogmised n profit or loss when the gain or loss on
disposal 15 recogmsed.

g) Revenue

Revemue 15 recogmused when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferming a promased zood
or service to the customer, which 15 when the customer cbtams control of the good or service. A
performance oblization may be satisfied at a point m time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised
15 the amount allocated to the satsfied performance oblization.

Interest mcome 15 recogmsad when 1t becomes receivable on a proportional basis taking into account the
interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

k) Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises cwrent and deferred tax. Cuorent and deferred tax are
recogmsed m profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognized outside profit or loss,
aither mn other comprehen=ive income or directly m equity in which the tax 15 also recogmised outside profit
or loss (erther m other comprehensive meome or divectly in equuty respectively).

Current tax iz the expected tax pavable on the taxable mcome for the vear, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax pavable in respect of previous
vears. Management periodically evaluates posthons taken m tax reforns with respect to sifuztions m which
apphicable tax regulation 15 subject to interpretation. It establishes prowisions, where appropriate, on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authonties.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial vear ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continmed)
b} Income tax {continued)

Deferred mecome tax 1s provided usmg the habality method, on all temporary dofferences at the end of the
reporting peried ansing between the tax bases of assets and habilihes and thewr camryving amounts m the
financial statemsents except where the deferred ncome tax arizes from the mitial recognrtion of goodwill or
an asset or liability in a transaction that 1s not a business combination, and at the time of the transachon
affects nerther the accounting nor taxxable profit or loss.

Deferred meome tax 15 provided on temporary differences ansing on investment m sobsidianes except
where the timung of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 15 probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foresesable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that 1t 1s probable that fiuture taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utihsed

Deferred tax assets and habiliies are measured at the fax rates that are expected to apply in the vear when
the asset 15 realised or the hiabality 15 settled. based on currently enacted or substantrvely enacted tax rates at
the balance sheet date.

i) Cash and eazh equivalents

Cazh and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and on hand demnand deposits, and short-term highly
lLigud imvestments that are readily convertible to knowsn amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant nisk of changes m value These also mnchide bank overdrafts, if amy, that form an integral part
of the Group’s cash panagement.

i) Share capital and share izsuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recogmised as share capifal in equuty. Incremental costs
divectly attrnbutable to the issuance of ordmary shares are deducted against shave capital.

k) Contingencies
A contingent labality 1s:

a) a possible oblization that anses from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
OCCWTEnce of non-occmrence of one or more uncertain fiuture events not wholly within the control of
the Group; or

b) a present obligation that arises from past events but 15 not recognised because:

(1} It 15 not probable that an cutflow of rescwrces embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the oblization; or
(1) The amount of the oblization cammot be measured with sufficient rehiability.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that anses from past events and whose exnstence will be confirmed
only by the occumrence or non-ocemrence of one or more wneertain fufure events not wholly within the
confrol of the Group.

Contingent liabilifies and assets are not recogmsed on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contngent
liabihities assumed m a business combination that are present cbhgations and which the fair vahues can be
reliably determined.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial vear ended 30 June 2020

-

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
I} Fimancial azzets
Recogninion and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financizl assets ame recogmised on trade-date - the date on whech the Group
commuts to purchase or sell the asset. Finaneal assets are derecogmsed when the nghts to recerve cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has tramsferred
substantially all nsks and rewards of owmership.

Fmancial assets are mebally measwred at fair value. Transachon costs that are duectly atimbutable to the
acqusition of financial assets (other than fimancial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
the fair value of the fnancial assets on imhal recopmbion. Trensacton costs directly athibutable to
aoqusition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recogmsed mmediately m profit or

loss.
Classificanion and measurement

All finaneial assets are subsequently measzwmed mn thewr entwrety at erther amorfised cost or famr valie,
depending on the classification of the financial assets. The Group classifies 1ts financial assets based on the
Group’s business model for managing the fmancial asset and the contractal cash flow charactensties of the
finaneial assets. The Group’s financial assets are clas=sified at amortised cost which comprize other
recervables and cash and cash equvalents.

Fmnanecial assets at amorfised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method
and are subject to mmpanmeent. Gains and losses are recogmsed m profit or loss when the asset 1=
derecopmsed modified or mmpared . Interest meome from thess finaneial assets 15 mehoded m interest
meome using the EIR method.

Impatrment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs™) for financial assets camied at
amortised cost ECLs are based on the difference between the contractuzl cash flows due m accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approcamation
of the origmal effective mierest rate.

The mmparment methodology apphed depends on whether there has been a sigmificant mereass in credit
risk. For credit exposures for which there has not been a migmficant merease m credit rick since mitial
recopnition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a sigmificant
merease In credit risk since mitial recogmtion, a loss allowance 15 required for credit losses expected over
the remaiming life of the exposure, nrespective of the timing of the defalt (a lifehme ECL).

The Group recognises an mmpaitment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial assets with a
commesponding admstment to their canymg amount through a loss allowance account.

Fmancial assets and habilites are offset and the net amount presented on the balance sheet when and only
when the Group has a legal nght to offset the ameounts and mtends either to settle on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the habihity simultanecusly.

m) Financial liabilities

Fmancial habiliftes include trade and other pavables. Financial liabalites are recogmised on the balance
sheet when and only when the Group becomes a party to the confractual provisions of the finanmal
mstroments. Fmancial habibtes are mofially recogmised at far value phus doectly attmbutable transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amorhsed cost, comprising onginzl debt less prnecipal payments and
amortisation

A financial hability is derecognised when the oblization under the lability 15 extinguished Gams and
losses are recogmised m profit or loss when the habilites are devecogmised and through the amerhsation

process. Finaneial habilities are classified as curent habihties unless the Group has an uncondiional right
to defer settlement of the hability for at least terelve months after the reporting period.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
o} Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group and the Company review the camrying amounts of its non-financial assets
to determmine whether there 1= any mdication that those assets have suffered an mmpairment loss. If any such
mdication exists, the meoversble amount of the asset is estmated m crder to determune the extent of the
mmpanmeent loss (if any). Where 1t 1= not possible to estimate the recoverable amsount of an indrvidual asset,
the Group and the Company estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-gensrating umt to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverzsble amount 15 the higher of farr value less costs to sell and value m use. In assessing value inuse,
the eshmated fufure cash flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the tume value of money and the nisks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating umt) 15 estmated to be less than 1t camying
amount, the carrymg amount of the asset (cash-generating umit) 15 reduced to its recoverable amount. An
mmpanment loss 1s recogmised immediately 1n the profit or loss.

Where an impamment loss subsequently reverses, the carving amount of the asset (cash-generating umit) 1=
mereased to the revised eshmate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased canying amount does
not exceed the canving amount that would have been determined had no impamment loss been recogmsed
for the asset (cash-generating umif) n prier years. A reversal of an 1mpamment loss 15 recogmsed
mmediztely m the profit or loss.

o) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and subsequently camed at cost less accummlated
deprecizhon and any mparment i valoe.

The cost of property, plant and equipment mitially recogmsed meludes its purchase pnce and any cost that
15 drectly attmbutable to bringing the asset to the location and condiion necessary for it to be capable of
operatng m the manner mtended by management.

Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equpment that has already been recognised 15 added to the
cartving amount of the asset only when it 15 probable that fufure economic benefits associated with the tem
will flow to the Group and the cost of the Mem can be measmwed rehably. Dhamantlement, remeval or
restoration costs are mchuded az part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obhigation for
dismantlement, removal or restoration 1s mewred 5 a consequence of aoquiring or using the asset.

On disposal of a property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 1ts
cartyving amount 15 taken to the profit or loss.

The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment 15 depreciated owver their eshmated useful lives
commencng from the tme the asset 1= beld ready for use. Useful hives of property, plant and equipment
range from 3 to 5 vears.

Fully depreciated assets are refained in the financial statements until they are no longer mn use.
The residual values, estimated wseful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and admsted as

appropriate, at each balance sheat date. The effects of any revision are recogmised m the profit or loss when
the changes ansa.
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continuad)
p) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evalushon costs, mehodmg the costs of acqgunng beences, are capitalised as exploration
and evaluzfion assets on an area of interest basis. Costs mewred before the Group has obtained legal nights
to explore an area are expensed m the profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recogmised if the rights to the area of mterest are cwrent and
elther:

(1) the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and explotation of the
area of mierest or by 1ts sale; or

(u)}actvities in the area of inferest have mot, af the reporing date, reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economcally recoverable reserves, and active
and significant operafions m, or in relation to, the area of interest are contrming.

Exploration and evaluafion assets are assessed for mmpanmoent if sufficient data exists to determume
technical faambility and commercial viabibty and the facts and cireuwmstances mggest that the camying
ammmt exceeds the recoversble amount. For the purposes of impanment testing, exploratton and
evaluiation assets are allocated to cash-generating umits to which the exploraton achvity relates. The cash-
generating unit shall not be larger than the area of interest.

Onee technical faasiblity and commercial viabibty of the area of inferest are demonstrable, explorafion and
evaluation assets atiributable to that area are first tested for impamment and then reclassified from

exploration and evaluzhon assefs to property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.
g} Share based compensation

The econcmic entity makes equity-settled share-based payments to directors, employees and other parties
for services provided for the acqusition of exploration assets. Where applicable, the fair value of the aqurty
15 measured at grant date and recogmised as an expense over the vesting penod, with a comesponding
merease to an equty account. The farr value of shares 15 ascertaned as the market bid price. The fair valoe
of ophons 15 ascertamed using the Black Scholes option valuation pricing model which mmcorporates all
market vesting condiions. Where appheable, the number of shares and ophons expected to vest 15 reviewed
and adjusted at each reporing date such that the amount recogmised for services received as consideration
for the equiy mshuments granted shall be based on the mmber of equity mstruments that eventually vest.

Where the fair value of services rendered by other parties can be mliably defermined this 15 used to
mezmre the equity-settled payvment.

r} Government grants

(Government grants are recognised at therr fair value where there 1s reasonzble assurance that the grant wall
be received and all attzching condrnons will be comphied with. Where the grant relafes to an asset, the far
value 15 recogmised a5 deferred caprtal grant on the balance sheet and 15 amortised to profit or loss over the
expected useful hfe of the relevant asset by equal ammual mstalments. When the zrant relates to an expense
Hem, It 15 recognised m profit or loss over the penod pecessary to match them on a systematic basis to the
costs that 1t 1s intended to compensate.

3} Segment reporting

An opersting segment 15 2 component of the Group that engages in business actmities from whuch 1t may
earn revenues and Inours expenses, moluding revermes and expenses that relate to transachons with other
components of the Group. Cperating sepments are reported in 3 mammer consistent with the intermal
reporimg provided to the cheef operating decision maker. The chuef operating decision maker, who 15
responmble for allocating resowrces and assessimg perfomance of the opersting segments, has been
identified as the directors.



Mayur Resources 2020 Annual Report

MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARTES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial yvear ended 30 June 2020

-

3.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
t) Employee benefits
Employes leave entitlament

Emplovee enfitlements to anoual leave and long service leave are recogmised when they accorue to
emplovess. A provision 15 made for the estmated hability for anmal leave and long-service leave as a
result of services rendered by emplovees up to the balance sheet date.

Defined contribution plans

Defined conmbuton plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Growp pavs fixed
coptnbufions into separate entifies such as the Central Provident Fund and will have no legal or
constuctive cbligation to pay further contmbutions once the contbutions have been pard Contnbutions to
defined contmbution plans ame recogmised as an expense m the penod m which the related service s
performed

u} Provizions for other labilities

Prowvizions are recogmused when the Group has a present legal or constructve oblization as a result of past
event, and 1t 15 probable that an cutflow of economye resources will be requived to sattle that cbhzation and
the amount can be estmated reliably. Provisions are measured at management’s best estumate of the
expenditure required to settle the obhzation af the balance shest date. Where the effect of the tme value of
money 15 matenal, the amount of the provision shall be discounted to present vahoe using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects the cwrent market assessment of the tme value of money and nsks specific to the
obligation.

When discounting 15 used, the increase m the provision due to passage of time 15 recogmsed as a finance
cost m profit or loss.

Kev sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements

The kev assumptions concermng the fiture and other key sources of estimzhon uncertamty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant nsk of cansing a matenal adjustment to the canying amounts of assets
and liabilites within the next finameial vear are discussed below:

Dgferred tax azsets

Mo members of the Group have generated taxable income m the finaneial vear and as such the Group
contitmes fo carry forward tax losses that give nise to deferred tax assets. Grven that the Group™s projects
remoain n early exploration stages, if 15 unbkely that the Group will generate taxable meome in the
foreseeable future in the absence of asset sales.

Taking account of the above, the deferved tax assets have not been recogmised in the financial statements as
manazement doss not beheve that the members of the Group safisfir the recopmbion criferia set ouf
SFRS() 1-12,

Sharad based payments

The Group measmures the cost of equity-settled fransachions by reference to the fawr value of the equuty
mstroments at the date at whach they are granted. Far value 15 caleulated using the Black Scholes valuaton
model, considening the termys and conditions upon which the options were granted. The assumptions used
these valnation models are set out i Note 16(b).

Where the vesting of share-based payments contains performance based and market-based molestones, m
estimatmg the mumber and fair valoe of the equty iInstuments 1ssned, the Group assesses the probabahity of
the malestones bemng met, and therefore the probabihity of the mstruments vesting. Management applies
udgement to amive at the probabibifies that are applied to these mmstuments. These esfimates will be
adjusted over time to reflect actual performance and management's best estimates of the condihons bemg
mef.
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3.

Kev sources of estimation uncertainty and eritical accounting judgement: (continued)
Calculation gf loss allowance

When measunng the expected credit loss (“ECL™), the Group and Company use reasonable and suppertable
forward-looking mformation, whech 15 based on assumptons and forecasts of fihire econommc conditions.
Loss given default 15 an estumate of the loss ansing on default It 15 based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and mtegral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key mput m measunng ECL. Probability of default 15 an estimate of the
hkebhood of default over a grven time honzon the caleulation of which melndes histoncal data,
assumpiions and expectztions of futwe condibons.

As the calenlations of loss allowances on other recervables and receivables from related parties are subject
fo assumptions and forecasts, any changes to these estimations will affect the amounts of loss allowance
recopnised and the caryving amounts of recervables. Detmls of ECL mezmurement and canying vahie of
other recetvables and recervables from submdianes at the end of the year are disclosed m Notes 13, 18 and
19 respectively.

Critical accounting judgements

In the process of appbying the Group's accounfing policies, manapement has made the following
udpements that have the most sipnificant effect on the amownts recogmized in the finaneal statensents

{apart from those mvelvng estimations which are described in the preceding paragraphs).
(Going concarn assumption

As at 30 June 2020 the Group had cash reserves of A%2 988,147 (2019: A52,799.951), net current assets of
AS2 426 806 (2019: A$748.562) and net assets of A$38,178,502 (2019: AS31,850,008). The Group mcwmed
a loss for the vear ended 30 Fune 2020 of A$3.720.399 (2019 loss: A%3.308.550), net cash outflows from
operating activities of A%3 178,105 (2019: A%$2 511,574 outflows) and net cutflows from mvesting activities
of A%4.542.753 (2019- A.$|54T343-1 outflows). These conditions give rise to material uncertainty which
may cast mpmficant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a gong concern.

The ability of the Group to confinue as 2 gomg concern 1= principally dependent upon the following:
(a) the abubty of the Company to raise addibonal fimdmg in the fiuture; and
(b) the successful exploraton and subsequent exploitation of the Group’s tenements.

Bazed on the success of previous capital raismes combined with the potenfial to attract farm-in partners for
projects, the potential sale of the cwrent portfolio of exploration assets beld and the abulity of the Group to
reduce or defer uncommitted expenditure, the directors have prepared the finameial statemsents on 2 poing
concern basis, which contemplates the confmmty of normal business activities and the realsation of assets
and discharge of habihfies mn the ordinary course of business.

The directors are confident of securing fimds a5 and when necessary to meet the Group’s oblizations as and
when they fall due.

If the Group 15 unzble to contirme in operationsl existence for the foreseeable future, the Group may be
unable to discharge 1tz liabihites m the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made o
reflect the sitnation that assets may need to be realised other than m the normal course of business and at
amounts which could differ sigmificantly from the amounts at whoch they are cwrently recorded in the
balance sheet In addition, the Group may have to provide for further lizbilities that might anse and to
reclassify non-cinment assets as cmrent assets. Mo such admstments have been made to these financial
statements.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements (continued)
Critical accounting judgements (continued)
Impairment qf expleration arnd evaluarion expenditure

At 30 Tune 2020, the canrving value of exploration and evaluztion assets of the Group was A%33_260,840
(2019: AS2E 983 036). Exploraton and evaluabion assets are assessed for imparment m accordance with
the accounting policy disclosed m MNote 2(p). The accounting pobicy requimes management to make certam
estimates and assumphons as to firhure events and ewenmstances. These estimates and assumphons may
change as new information becomes available. If, after kaving capitalised expenditire under the accounting
policy, a judzement is made that recovery of the expenditure 15 unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount
will be expensed in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 30 Tune 2020, eleven of the Group’s mineral exploration heences were under applhication for renewal.
The Group beheves it has comphed with all lLicence condifions, mcluding mmirmm expenditure
requiremnents, and 15 not aware of any matters or corcumstances that have ansen that would remlt mn the
Group’s application for renewal of the exploration licences not being granted m the ordinary course of
busmess. The Group has deteromned that ne mmpaimment of the caprtahised explorstion and evaluaton
expenditure relating to these explorafion licences 1s necessary as it 1s considered that there 15 a reasonable
basis to expect that the renewszl applications will be granted and that the Group is otherwnise proceeding
with exploration amd development actvities on the exploration heences. Should any of the exploration
bicences not be repewed, the relevant capitalized amount as at 30 Jume 2020 will be expensed in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Exploration and evaluation assets are set outm
Note 10.

As disclosed in Mote 24, notwithstanding management performed an mpaimment assessment on all the

exploraton and evaloation assets on balance sheet date, follownng a stratezic rewview of 1ts portfolhio of

muneral explorztion tenements on 22 September 2020, the Company s subsidiary Mayor Iron FNG Limrted

advised the Mineral Resources Authonty of Papua Mew Guinea that it did not wish fo procesd with the

renewal apphcations for exploraton heences EL2266 and EL226%9 which expowed on 13 May 2020, The

Ehﬁsa& explomtion and evaluzhon expenditure relatng to these tenements as at 30 June 2020 was
2,557,955,

Impact of COVID-10

The outhmeak of the COVID-19 pandemic m early 2020 and the subsequent travel and trade restrictions
mposad by the governments of numerous countries including Australia and Papua Mew Guinea have
caused dismuption to businesses and economac activity. The Board and Management of the consolidated
entity have considered the mpact of the COWID-19 pandemic on the consolidated entity’s operations and
finaneial performance and have determmed that the consohdated enfity has not been materially mmpacted by
the COVID-19 pandermc at this stage. Resinctons on infematonal travel and disruptions o infermational
supply chams have cansed some delays m the consohdated entity’s explomton and development programs
but have not hkad a significant impact on the consolidated entity’s operations or results to the date of these
finaneial statements.

In prepaning the consolidated financial report, management has considered the mpact of COVID-19 on the
vanous balances in the finaneial report, including the canving values of trade recenvables and finite Lifs
non-current assets. Management determuined that there was no sigmficant mpact of COVID-19 on the
abovementioned balances and accounting estomates.
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4. Eevenue and other income

.

6.

Group
020 2019
AS A%
Interest income - cash and cash equivalents 14,529 66,854
COVID-19 government grant 62,500 -
Foreign exchange gains, net 91,962 19255
169,991 86,109

The COVID-19 government grant recerved 15 a non-refimdable grant receitved from the Anstrahian
government as part of 1fs economc response to the COVID-19 pandemme. The Group did not recerve any
other COVID-19 related grants or financial support.

Auditor’s remuneration

Group
2020 019
AS A%
Andit faes:
- Anditor of the Company 20,000 46,004
- Crther anditors* 118429 110,000
168,420 156,004

There are no non-audit fees paid to other auditors in the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.
* Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly Infemnational network.

Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into the following business units:

»  Industrial minerals which includes limestone and the Port Moreshy Lime Project.

*  Iron which includes construction sands, magnetfite sand and heavy muneral sands. The focus of this
busmess wnit 15 the development of the Orokolo Bay Indusinal Sands Project located along the southern
coast of Papua Mew Guinea;

* Copper and gold comprismg the Group’s mterests in the Fem Island Project m the New Ireland
Provinee of Papua New Guinea, the Basilak: / Sideia project m Milne Bay Provinee and the Sihpu
Project in the Eastern Highlands province of Fapua New Guinea;

* (Coal and power compnsing the Depot Creek coal resowrce m the Gulf Project of Papua New Gumea
and which 15 developing a proposal for verfically infeprated domestc power projects i Papua New
(umea with an mitial focus on the Lae region; and

*  Corporate which provides Group-level corporate services and treaswry funchions.

Except as mdicated above, no operafing segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable
operating segmernts.

Management monitors the operating results of its busmess wnits separately for the purpese of making
decisions zbout resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance 15 evaluated bazad
on actual expendrhure incwred, including capitalized expenditure which differs from operating profit or loss
reported m the consolidated financial statements.
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6. Segment information (continned)
Accounting policies adopted

The Chief Operating Decision Maker assesses the performonce of the operating segments based on a
measure of gross expenditure that melodes both expenditure that 15 capifalised 1 these financial statements
and expenditure that 15 expensed i the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive mcome 1 these
financial statements. The measwement of gross expenditure does pot include the impairment of exploration
expenditire or pon-cash items such as depreciation expense and share based payments expense. Interest and
other iters of revenue are allocated to the Corporate segment.

Conzclidated
Industrial Copper Coal and Finamcial
Minerals Iren and Gold Powrer Corporate Statements
AS AS AS AS A% AS

Group
2020
Rasults:
Interest income - - - - 14,519 14,519
::iupau-:.?nni ocfexp.lﬂmhnn and (219.727) _ _ _ - (219,727)
Segment loss (241,597) (60,313) (164,270) (65,694)  (3,188,515) (3,720,399)
Assats:
Exploration and evaluation

Expenditure 6,077,458 16,841,755 3,717,342 7,624,285 - 33,260,840
Segment assets 6,082,425 17,243,291 1,798,272 9,815,930 3,098,504 39,042,422
Segment azsets includs:
Mon-cash expenditure
capitalised 15977 402,101 33,507 104,929 - 555,544
Addihons to property, plant
and equipment - 12,823 - 386,065 - 398,538
Segment habalihes 15,682 168,207 13,204 109,966 236,468 863,920
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6. Segment mformation (continued)

Consolidated
Industrial Copper Coal and Financial
Mhinerals Irom and Gold Powrer Corporate Statements
AS AS A% A% A% A%
019
Results:
Inferest incoms - - - - 66,854 66,854
Segment loss (6,722) (64.354) (282.915) (116464) (2 .838.095) (3,308 550)
Assets:
Exploration and evaluation
expenditure 5282453 14427473 2456062 6,817,048 - 28983036
Sepment assets 5283320 15237752 2 666,996 £.601 595 2259 §09 34045 562
Segment azsets includa:
Mon-cash expendihre
capitahised 1,076,265 1,289,745 50,029 235007 - 268515946
Additions to property, plant
and equipment - 226,575 - 56,605 - 283.180
Segment habulities 53368 320 497 27.5830 99.175 1,689 684 2199554

The Group’s non-curent assets are all located in Papua Mew Gumnea (“PHGE™) where all the explomtion actrnaties are
camad out.

Information about mgjor customer

The Group 15 shll i the pre-commercialized stage of its explorstion actrvities and therefore no revenue is generated.

7. Tax expenze

Group
2020 2019

Tax expense atinbutable to loss of the Group 15 made up of:
Current year income tax - —

The income tax expense on the results of the financial year vanes from the amount of income fax
determined by applying the Singapore statutory rate of Income tax to loss before tax due to the following

factors:
Loss before meome tax (3,720,399) (3,308.550)
Effact of tax rates in other jurisdictions (398,613) (358,638)
Tax caleulated at a tax rate of 17% (2019 17%) (632,468) (562 453)
Expenses not deductible for tax puposes 76,842 365924
Income not assessable for tax purposes (17,188) -
Defered tax assets not recognised 971,427 555,167
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7. Tax expensze (continued)

The applicable rate of meome tax mn a junsdichon other than Singapore m whach the Group 15 subject to tax
rate ranging from 27 5% to 30% for the vear ended 30 Fune 2020 and 30 June 2019.

CGroup

020 2019

AS A%
Accruals 16,031 22704
Unrealised foreizn exchange gains (365) (5,328)
Provasions 18,561 33,570
Capital reismg costs 47,334 79,405
Cthers (47,591} -
Tax lozses available for offset agamst foture taxable income 1,604,870 1,547 062
Met deferred tax assets 1,648,840 1677413
Deferred tax assets not recognised 1,648,840 (1,677.413)

8. Earming: per share

The sarmings per share was calculated on the basis of net loss athibutable to equity shameholders diaded by
the weighted average oumber of crdmary shares. The basic and diluted loss per share 15 the same for the
vears ended 30 Tune 2020 and 2019 as the Group incwred losses for both years, and the share ophions are
anh-dilutive.

The following tables reflect the loss and share data used m the computation of basic and dilute earmmgs per
share for the financial vears ended 30 June:

Group
020 2019
AS A%
Loss for the financial year atiributable to owners of the Company (3,720,399 (3.295.739)
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for basic and diluted eammngs per share 171,370,783 150,139 304
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Group
1020 2019
AS A%
Power plant assets, at cost 2,106,447 1.758.588
Plant and equipment, net of depreciation 384,400 359,822
1,490,356 2118410

{a) Power plant asseis at cost

The Group continued feasibibity studies and negohations to obtain approvals for a coal fired electricity power
plant to operate m Lae, Morobe Provines and supply electrictty to PNG Power Limited  The capitalizad costs
relate to expenditire meowred as at 30 June 2020 in respect of the proposed project. Depreciation of these
costs has not commenced as the assets are not ready foruse.

Group
1020 2019
AS A%
Balance at 1 Tuly 1,758,588 1,701,983
Additions 347,850 56.605
Balance at 30 June 2,106,447 1,758,588

Additions inchude $22.228 (2019 $98,697) settled by way of share-based payments (Mote 16(b)) and $51,503
(2019: $ml) settled by way of shares issued as partial consideration for services received (Mote 15).

(B)  Plant and equipment, net of depreciation

Group

2020 2019

AS A
Balance at 1 Tuly 359,822 242 033
Additions 51,019 226,575

L - (85.650)

Deepreciation (26,442) (19.136)
Canymg value at 30 June 384,409 359 822
Cost
- At ] Tuly 392,400 260,193
- At 30 Fane 443,429 392 400
Accummlated depreciation
- At ] Tuly (32,578) (18,1600
- At 30 Jane (59,020) (32.578)
Carrying vahue at 30 Fune 384,409 359 822

Plant and equipment consist of office equipment and machmenes which are individually msignificant.
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9. Property, plant and equipment {continued)

{c) Nom-cash transactions

Group
2020 2019
AS A%
Agerezate cost of property, plant and equipment acqured 198,838 283,180
Less: Share-based payment (73,73L) (98,697)
Addfless: Change in other payables for addihons {5,438) 368,160
HNet cash outflow for purchase of property, plant and equpment 319,719 552643
1i. Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Group
020 019
AS A%
Exploration and evaluafion phases 33,260,840 28983 036

Eaploration and Evaluation Asseis

The meoupment of costs camed forward i relafion to areas of inferest in the explorstion and evaluation
phase is dependent on successful development and commercial exploifation, or altematively, sale of the
respective areas of inferest.

Movement= in explorafion and evaluation assets during the finaneial year are surmmarized belowr:

Group

020 e

A% A%
Balance at beginming of financial year 18,983,036 20,496,395
Exploration and evaluzfion expendrture capitabised dring the

financial year (1) 4,497,531 £.486,641

Impanrment of explorafion and evaluation expendifore (219,727) -
Balance at end financial year 33,260,840 28.983.036

Impamrment charges for the year represent the mmpanment of capitabised exploration i relabon to tenements that
the Group has, or miends to, relingquish. Movements in impaimment charges are summarnsed belowr:

Group
020 Xlg
AS A%
Impanment of explorshon and evaluation expenditure
At ] Faly - -
Impanrment charge dunng the financial vear 219,727 —
At 30 Iine 319,717 -

(i) Inchudes $481, 817 (2019: $2,651.946) in costs settled by way of share based payments (refer Note 16(b)).

Non-cash transactions

Group
020 e
AS A%
Ageresate cost of exploration and evaluation expendihore 4,497,531 8,436 641
Less: Share-based payment (481,817) (2,651,946)
Add- Change in other payables for additions 207320 155030
Net cash outflow for exploration and evaluafion expenditure 4,223,034 5.989.725
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11, Subsidiaries
a) The Group’s significant subsidiaries

The table below presents the Group's ownership inferests in subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June
2019.

Effective

Country of ownership interest

Subsidiaries of Mayur Besources Lid:  incorporation Principal activity held by the Group
2020 2019
b4 Ya
M. Exploration FNG Pte Ltd* Singapare Ivesiment holding 100 100
MEF. Iron PG Pie Ltd* Singapare Imvestment holding 100 100
MEF. Energy FMNG Pte Ltd® Singapare Imvesiment holding 100 39
ME. Indusinals PNG Pte Lid* Singapare Ivesiment holding 100 100
MEF. Power Generation Pte Lid® Singapore Irvestment holding 100 39
Mayur Exploration FNG Lomited™ Papua New Gumea  Mineral exploration 100 100
Mayur Iron PHG Limited ™ Papua New Gumea  MMineral exploration 100 100
Mayur Energy PG Ltd™ Papua New Gumea  Coal exploration 100 39
Mayur Industrials FNG Lid™ Papua New Gumea  Siesl 100 100
Mayvur Power Generation FNG Papua New Gummea Power generation 100 89
Liited"™
Waterford Limuted™ Papua New Gumea Coal exploration 100 &9

¥ Andited by Bakes Tilly TFW LLP
** Andited by independsnt oversess member firms of Baker Tilly International for consolidstion purposes.

Drurng the vear ended 30 June 2020, the Group acquired the entive non-controllng interests (MCT) in ME
Energy PNG Ple Ltd and ME. Power Generation Pte Lid. Fefer note 11{c).

In 2019, ME Iron PHNG Pte Ltd (MIPF) entered into an agreement with China Titanium Resowees Holdmes
Limited ({CTEH) pursuant to which CTRH could eam up fo a 49% ownership miterest in ME. Iron PHNG Pie
Ltd by providing up o US$25 million in finding for the Orokolo Bay industrial sands project. The agreement
provides that CTRH will receive a 2% equity interest in MIPP for each US$] million in funding contributed
by CTEH, provided that CTRH's total equity interest in MIPP is capped at 49%. As at 30 June 2020, CTEH
had not acquired any equity interest in MIPP under the terms of the agresment.

b) Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2020 2019
AS A%
Unquoted equity shares at cost 13,859,292 10,770,146
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11. Subsidiaries (comtinued)

¢} Non-comtrolling interests

Movements mn non-controlling mterests (“MNCT™) dunng the finaneial year are summansed bealowr:

Accummlated MCT as at 1 Jaly

Acqu=ition of NCT during the peniod (refer Note 16(z))
Profit or (loss) allocated to NCI dunng the year
Balance at the end of the reporting peniod

Group
2020 2019
AS Af
716,908 729,719
(716,903) -
- {12 811)
- 716,908

As at 30 Fupe 2020, there were no non-controlling mterests in subsidiames, however refer Note 11(a) for
details of the agreement pursuant to which CTEH may acquire up to 2 49% mterest m MIFP.

d) Summarized financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (“INCI™)

The Group has the following subsidianes that have NI that are considered by management to be material

to the Group:
Name of subsidiary

30 June 2020
Mayur Energy FING Lid
Mayur Power Generation PG Limted

30 Jume 2019
Mayur Energy PNG Lid
Mavur Power Generation PG Limited

Principal place of buziness’
Country of incorporation

Papua New Gumea
Papua New Gumea

Papua New Gumea
Papua New Gumea

Orwmership interests
held by NCI

11%
11%

Set out below 15 summansed financial mformation for each of the Group’s subsidianes wath NCT that are
considered matenial to the Growup. This finanmal information meludes consohdabion adyustments but excludes

mter-company elminations.

Summarizad Balance Shesat

Non-owrent assets
Current assets
Current habilifies

Net azzets

Net assets attributable to NCI

Mayur Power Generation PNG MMayur Energy PNG Lid
Limited
2020 2019 020 2019
A Af AS AS

- 1,689.353 - 3,920 468
- - - 53,553
- {23,094) - {4,967)
- 1666259 - 3,969,054
- 183,288 - 436,596
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11. Subsidiaries (continued)

d} Summarized financial information of subzidiariezs with material non-conmtrolling interests (“NCI™)
{continmed)

Summarized Statements of Comprehensive Income

MMavur Power Generation MMayur Energy PNG Ltd
PNG Limited
2020 2019 020 2019
A% A% AS AS

Fevenue - - - -
Loss before tax - (18,504) - (TB.B4T)
Income tax expense - - - -
Loss after tax from confiming operations - (18,504} - (T8 BAT)
(hher comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive loss - (18,504} - (T8.B4T)
Loz: allocated to NCI

- (2,035) - (8,673)

The share of curent vear results by MCI in Maywr Power Generation FNG Limited and Mayur Energy PING Lid
pnor to the acgm=iton of NCI by the Group 15 not material and therefore this 1s not accounted for m the
consolidated statements of profit and loss and other comprehensrve income.

Summarized Statement of Cash Flows

MAMayur Power Generation Mayur Energy PNG Lid
PNG Limited
2020 2019 2020 2019
A AS AS AS
Caszh flows used in operahng achiites - - - -
Exploration and evaluation expendiure - - - (35,629)
Payments for property, plant and equipment - 278,928 - -
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1%

13.

14.

Cash and cash equivalents

Unrestricted bank balances

Other current azsets

Goods and services tax recervables

Cther current recervables

Trade and other payables

Trade creditors and accruals

Payable to Siecap (pre 30 Juze 2017

sETVICes)

Group Company
2020 019 2020 2019
AS A% AS AS
1,088,147 2,799 951 2 ET3 447 2,143,602
2,958,147 2,759 951 2,873,447 2,143 602
Group Company
2020 019 2020 2019
AS AS AS A%
116,229 115,688 44,265 86,597
156,350 32477 180,797 29,706
302,579 148,165 115,062 116,303
Group Company
020 2019 2020 2019
AS A% AS AS
863,920 1,163,171 542,969 679,900
_ 1,036,383 - 1,036,383
563,920 2,199 554 542,969 1,716,283

Set out below 15 a summary of movements i the Payable to Siecap (pre 30 June 2017 seraces):

Balance at begmmng of financial year

Chther movements

Balance at end of financial year

Share capital

Izsue and fully paid up capital

Share capatal

36

CGroup and Company

2020 2019
AS A%
1,036,383 1,856,765
- 3.000
(1,036,383) (823,382)
— 1036383
Group and Company
2020 2020
AS A%
49,048,540 36,976 495
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15,

Share capital (continued)

Movements m crdinary shares on 1ssue i the year to 30 June were:

Issuance of shares pursuant to capifal raismg

Issuance of shares in settlement of capital
ralsing costs

Shares issued on the exercise of ophions and
performance rights

Issuance of shares as partial payment for
services recelved

Acqusifion of non-controlling interests m
subsidiaries (Mote 16{z))

Funds received on sale of Loan Funded
Shares

Issue of Loan Funded Shares (Motel 6(BX1))

Funds received for exercise of options for
which shares were 155ued after year end

Cost of 1ssning shares

At end of Ainancial yvear

020 2019

Number A% Humber A%
151,009,373 36976495 149016844 36667443
13,271,672 7,432,133 - _
3,791,214 2,040,672 - -
3,109,566 1,412,960 317,529 78.752
115,451 51,504 - -
£,720,646 3,089,148 _ _
- 600,000 - -
_ — 1675000 -
_ _ _ 230,300
- (2,554,363) - -
177,017,923 49,048,549 151009373 36976495

Ordinary shares, which have no par value, cary one vote per share and cany a nght to dividends as and when

Reconciliation af proceeds from share issue and costs gf issuing sharss to cash flow from financing activities

Shares 1smued on the exercize of opbons and performance nghts

Fund= recerved for exercise of options for
which shares were issued after year end

Issuance of shares puwrsuant to caprial rasmg

Funds recerved on sale of Loan Funded Shares

Proceeds from share issue m the consohdated statement of cash flows

Cost of 1ssuing shares

Izmance of shares in settlement of capital rmising costs
Cost of 1ssuing shares in the consohdated statement of cash flows
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Group Group
oo 019
AS A
1,412,960 78,752
- 230,300
7,431,133 -
G0, D00 -
9,445,093 309,052
Group Group
020 2019
AS A%
1,584,363) -
2,040,672 -
(513,691) —
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15, Share capital (continued)

Options issued
The Company did not grant any options dunng the vear ended 30 FJune 2020 and 30 June 2019.

The following table illustrates the mumber and movements m share opfions issued during the reporfing

penod:
Lovalty Options Advizor Options
oo 2019 2020 2019

Om izsue at beginning of the period 11,189,637 13,909 828 1,337,856 1,337,856
Options exercised (2,934,392) (140.585) - -
Options lapsed (9,155,145) (1.575.606)  (1,337.856) -
Om izsue at end of the period — 12,189 637 — 1.337 856
Weighted average exercise price of options ASNil ASD 56 AsNil ASD 56
Weughted average share price on the date

ophions exercised ARD.56 ASD.72 Ml exercised  Nil exercised

The options do ot have any vohng rights, any enfitlement to dividends or any enttlemsent to the procesds
on hqmdahion in the event of 3 winding up.
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16, FEeserves
Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
AS AS As AS
Capital reserve (3) (6,635,402) (4,263,162) - -
Share based payments reserve {b) 8,020,100 6984113 8,050,100 6084113
1,414,698 2,730,951 8,050,100 6084113

fa Capital reserve

Dhmnng the vear, the Group acqured the entire non-controlling mterests (NCT) 1 1ts ME. Energy PNG Pre Lid and
MF. Power Generation Pte Ltd for shares in the parent enfity with a far value of 4%3,089, 148 with a resulting
transfer from eqmity atmbutzble to non-contrelling mterest to equty atinbutable to owners of the parent enfity and

creztion of a capital reserve as summansed belowr:

Croup Group
2020 2019
AS AS
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period (4,263,162) (4,263,162)
Eqmity atimbutable to owners of the Company:
Fair vahie of shares in parent entity issued to acquire the MCT (3,089,148) -
M in subsidianes (Note 11(c)) T16,908 -
Balance af the end of the reporting peniod (6,635.402) (4263 162)

(b} Share bazed payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve i1s used to record the far value of shares or opfions issued to

emplovesscontractors and other service providers.
Group and Company

2020 2019
A% AS
Balance at 1 July £.9584.113 3,567,111
Share based payments made during the year (i) 1,065,987 3,417,002
Balance at 30 June 8,020,100 6,984,113

The share-based payments made durmg the year were accounted for as followrs:
Group and Company

2020 2019
A3 AS
Fecopnised as share-based pavments expense in the Consclidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 561,942 666359
Capitalised as exploration and evahiation expenditure (Mote 10) 481,817 2,651,946
Capitalised as property, plant and equipment (Note 9(a]) 12,128 98,687
1,065,987 3417002
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16. FReserves (continued)

(i} Share based payments made during the year

The followmg share-based payvment transachons were recogmsed dunng the year:

2028
Number isswed AS

Vested performance rights awarded to emplovees as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) (u) 1,821,768 904,968

Amomis recognized in relation te shave bazed payments issued in

the current year 904,968
Armeumts recopmized m the cwrrent vear m relzfion to share based

payments issued m previous financial vears 161,019

1,065,987
2019
Number issued AS

Vested performance rights awarded to emplovees as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) 1278945 76,742
Long term meentive rights subject to vesting condrfions 2,550,000 640,302
Loan finded shares 1.675.000 579618
Long term meentive nghts not subject to vesting condrbons 90,000 48 600

Amomis recognized in ralation fe shave bazed payments issued in

the current year 2145262
Amounts recopmsed m the cwrent vear i relahon to share based

payments issued m previous financial vears 1271740

3.417.002

(i) Salary sacrifice rights

Performance nghts are granted to employees and contractors to recerve shares in mespect of a porhion of thewr
agreed remuneration. Each performamce nght wall entitle the holder to recenve one share. The performance
nights vest annually over four equal mstalments and can be exercised for no consideration at amy tme after
being sranted but prior to the expiry date of the rights.

The mimber of parformence rghts to be 1ssued at each grant date 15 detenmimed by dividing the salary amount
to be pard mn the form of parformance share nghts drnded by the prevailing share price (rounded down to the
nearest whole mumber).

Any new employees/contractors or employees'contractors that have not worked on behalf of the Company for
a munmmn of 12 months shall be restrieted m exercismg thenr performance nghts until such time they have
worked for and'or on behalf of the Company for a vear of 12 months.

Dhoing the financial year, 2,823,768 salary sacrifice nghis were 1ssued in respect of renmneration totalling
A$904.968 (2019: 1,278,945 salary sacnifice rights issued in respect of remumeration totalling A$876,742).
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17.

18,

19.

Capital commitments

In order to mamtain current nghts of tenure to exploration fenements, melndng tenements that had expired and
were the subject of renewal applications by the Group as at 30 June 2020, the Group 15 required to perform
exploration work to meet mommum expenditure requirements as specified by the Papua New Gumea Mineral
Resources Authonity. The followingz table sets out the mmimamm expenditure commtments:

Group and Company
020 2019
A AS
Payable:
- not later than one year 1,767,249 1,034,035
- later than one year and not later than five years 1,005,713 TT1,755
1,772,952 1,811,790
Eeceivables from subsidiaries
Company
2020 2019
A% AS
Recervables from subsidiaries 35,195,655 30,314 929
Less: Allowance for credit loss (Mote 19()) (13,453,084) (7.457,116)
Met recervables from submdianes 1,742,571 22 857 813

ERecervables from subsidianes are unsecured, repayable on demand and are non-mterest beanng.

Company
2020 2019
A% A%
Balance at 1 July 12,857,813 15,195,223
Advances to subsidianes 4,376,675 4911942
Share based payment 204,051 2,750,648
Allowance for credit loss (5,995,968) -
Balance at 30 June 21,741,571 22 857 813

Financial risk management

The Group's ponerpal financial mshwments compnse cash and cash equivalents, recetwvables and trade and
other payables. The Group does not cwrently have any projects m production and as such the main popose of
these financial mstuments 15 fo provide hgwdiy o finance the Group’s development and exploration
actmvities. It 15, and has been throughout the financial year, the Group’s pobicy that po tradmg m specalative
financial mstroments shall be undertzken. The mam nsks ansing from the Group’s use of financial
instruments are foreizn cwrrency nisk, interest rate risk, credit nisk and hqmdity nsk. Dunng the financial year,
the Group hzs had some tansachonal cumrency exposures, principally to the Papua MNMew Gumea Kina
("PGE"). The Group has not entered mmto forward corrency contracts to hedge these exposures due to the short
time frame associated wath the cwrency exposure and the relatively modest overall exposure at any one point
in time.

Detals of the mgmficant accountng policies and methods adopted, including the cntena for recogmbion, the
bazs of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recogmsed, in respect of each class of
financial asset and financial Lhability are disclosed m Mote 2. Pnmary responsibility for identification and
confrol of financial nsk rests with the Board of Directors. However, the dav-to-day management of these risks
15 under the control of the Managimg Director. The Board agrees the strategy for manzpimg fuhwe cash flow
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1%, Financial risk management {continued)
a) Categories of financial Instruments

The canrving values of the Group s financial instruments at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group Company
020 2019 00 2019
A% A% A% AS
Financial asses
Financisl assats at amorised cost 3,174,497 1,832,428 24,706,815 25,030,491
Financial iabilities
Financisl lishilities at amortised cost 63020 2,180 554 542,872 1,716,283

b} Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign cwrency nisk mainly ansng from various cwmency exposures, mcluding
Papua Mew Guinea Ema ("PGE™). The Group’s policy 1= to convert its local cwrrency to the foreipn omrmency
at the time of the transaction. Forelgn cwmency sk anses from fihre commercial fransachons.

The Group manages foreign cumrency risk on an as-peeds basis. The nsk 15 measored wsng sensitivity

analysis and cash-flow forecasting. The Group's exposure to foreign owmency nisk, expressed i Australian
dollars at the reporhing date, was as follows:

PCE
00 2019
AS Al
Finameial ammets
Cash and cash equivalents 111 766 654413
et curTencies exposure 11276 654413

The followmg table details the Group’s sensitvity to a 10% merease and decrease m the Aunstrahian dollar
against the relevant foreizn cummencies. 10%% 15 the sensitivity rate used when reporfing foreign currency nisk
mternally to key manapement personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreizn exchange mates. A postve mumber in the table represents a decrease in the operating loss
after tax and merease equity where the Anstrabian dollar strengthens agaimst the relevant cumrency. For a 10%
weakening of the Awstralian dollar against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the
loss or equuty, and the balances below would be negative.

PGCE
2020 019
A% A%
Loss after tax and equity
- 107 incresse 11,277 65441
- 1(P% decrease (112TH (65, 441)
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19. Financial risk management (continwed)
b) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate nsk arises predominantly from cash and cash equivalents beanng
vanzble mterest rates. At the end of the reporing period, the Group mamtamed the followmz vanable rate

accoumts:
30 Jume 2020 30 June 2019
Weighted Weighted
AVETaZE average mieTest
interest rate Balance Tate Balance
% AS % A%
Cash and cash equivalants s 21 988 147 1.05 2,790 051

At the end of the reportmg peried, if the mierest rates had changed, as dlostrated m the table below, wath all
other vanables remaiming constant, after-tax (loss) / profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

After-tax loss (higher)/lower Equity {higher)lower
1020 2019 2020 2019
A% AS A3 A%
2000 +0.5% (50bp) / (2019 +1_00%) 14,941 20,300 14,941 17,000
20020 -0.5% (50bp) / (2019 -1.00%) (14.941) (20,300 [14,541) (27,000

¢)  Credit rizk

Credit nk refirs to the nsk that a counterparty will default on 1ts contractual ebligatons resulimg m financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and
obtaming suffictent collateral where appropriate, a5 a means of mutigating the nsk of financial loss from
defaultz. The Group’s exposare and the credit ratmgs of it counterparhies are confmuously monitored.

Concentration of credit nsk exists when changes in economie, mdustry or geographical factors smmlarly affect
group of counterparties whose aggregate exposuwre 1= sigmificant in relation to the Group’s total credit exposure.
Ongoing credit evaluafion 15 performed on the financial condiion of accounts receivable and, where
approprate, credit guarantes Insurance cover 1s purchased

The following sets out the Group’s intermal credit evaluafion practices and basis for recogmition and
measurement of expected credit losses (ECL):

Description of evaluation of financial assets Basiz for recognition and measurement of ECL
Counterparty has a low nizk of default and does not have | 12-month ECT.
any past due amounts

There has been a sigmficant merease m credit nsk smee | Lifetome ECL - not credit-impamed

There iz evidence of credit nnpanmment Lifetime ECL - credit-mmpaired

There is evidence indicating that the Company has ne | Wiite-off
reasonable expectation of recovery of payments such as
when the debtor has been placed under hqwdation or has
entered mio bankmptcy proceedmgs
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19, Fimancial rick management (contnued)
d) Significant increase in credit rizk

In assessmgz whether the credit nsk on a financial asset has mereased sigmificantly since mitial recogmtion, the
Group compares the nisk of a default ocowring on the financial assaet as at the balance sheet date with the nsk of
a default cocwrng on the financial asset as at the date of mufal recogmition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quanttative and quabiatve wformation that 15 reasonable and supportable, mcluding
histonical expenence and forward-locking mformation, such as future economc and mdustry outlock, that 1=
available without undue cost or effort.

The nisk that the bormower will default on a demand loan depends on whether the bormower:
(1) has sufficient cash or other hqud asssts to repay the loan immediately; or
(1) does mot have sufficient cash or other iqmd assets to repay the loan immediately.

The Group performs this assessment qualitatively by reference to the bomrower's mmmediate cash flow and
liqud asset positon. Belying on the 30 days past due rebuftable presumphion 15 not considered an appropriate
indicator grven the lack of contractual payment obligations.

The Group regularly momrtors the effectiveness of the crifenia used to identify whether there has been a
agnificant merease m credit nsk and revises them as appropriate to emsure that the enteria are capable of
idenfifying sigmficant mereases in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group also assumes that the credit nsk on a financial mstroment has pot mereased significantly since mitial
recognufion 1f the financial asset 15 determined fo have low credit nsk at the end of the reporting peniod. A
financial inshument is determuned to have low credit risk; the bowower has a strong capacity to meet ifs
confractual cash flow oblipahons m the near term; and adverse changes in economic and business conditons
the longer term may, but will not necessanly, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obhigations.

e} Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constfuting an event of default for mmfermal credit risk mamagement
purposes. Where information developed internally or obtained from external sources mdicates that the debtor is
unbikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, m full (without tzking into account any collateral held by the
Group).

This 15 assessed based on a mumber of factors meluding key hqudity and solvency rafios. Kelying on the 90
days past due rebuttable presumpton is not considered an appropnate ndicator given the lack of confractual
pavment obligations due throughout the hfe of the loan.

fi Credit-impaired financial aszets

A finaneial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detnmental mpact on the eshmated
futwre cash flows of that finaneial asset have ocowred such as evidence that the bomower is mn sipmficant
financial difficulty, there 1= a breach of contract such as default or past due event; there 15 information that it 15
becoming probable that the bomrower will enter bankmptey or other financial reorgamisation; the disappearance
of an active market for that fmancial asset because of financial diffienlties; or the purchase or ongmation of a
financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the mowred credit losses.

g) Estimation techmigques and significant assumptions

There has besn no change m the eshmaton techmoues or mgnificant assumphons made dunng the cwrent
financial vear for recogmfion and measwrement of credit loss allowances.
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1%, Financial risk management {continned)
b} Maximum exposure and concentration of credit rizk

The Group and the Company does not have concenfration of credit nsk at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019,
except for receivables from subsidiaries of the Company.

As the Group and the Company does not hold any collateral, the maxnmom exposure fo credit nisk for each class
of firanmal mstuments 15 the carmving amownt of that class of financal msbuments presented on the balance
shest.

The credit loss for cash and cash equvalents and other receivables are mmmatenal as at 30 hune 2020 and 30
Fune 2019.

i) Other financial azsets at amortsed cost

Other finaneial assets 2t ameortsed costs melude other recervables, other cwmrent assets (excludng prepayments
and goods and services tax recervables) and cash and cash equivalents.

The table below details the credit quality of the Group's financial assets:

30 June 2020 Gross camying Loss Mat camrving
12-month or amount allowance amount
lifetime ECL A% Af A%
CGroup
Otther receivables HE""“ I i 186,350 186,350
recelva e Limmi L33 - 3
. NA
o =] 2 - )
Cash and cash equivalents e Lim 2988 147 2,988,147
Company
Other receivablas NE A 1 . 180,797 180,797
recervablas ure Limmi X - X
Recervables from subsidiaries Lifatime 35195655 (13453080 71,742 571
. NA
- =] p] - g
Caszh and cazh equivalents Eornosure Limited 2873 447 2873447
30 June 2019 Gross carrymg Loss Het canymg
12-month or amoumt allowance amound
lifetime ECL A% AS A%
Group
Other receivables Na 12477 - 32477
Cash and cash equivalents NI A e Liited 2799951 - 2,799,951
Company
Other receivables A 39,706 - 29,706
E}q}DEI.IIE l.lIIIl t&d - ?
Recervables from subsidiaries Lifatime 30314929  (7457.116) 22,857 813
Cash and cash equivalents NA 2,143,602 . 2,143 602
eq Fanosure Limited 2,143,602 2,143 602
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15.

Finanecial rick management (contnued)
1) Movement: in eredit lozs allowance

There are no movements in the allowance for imparment of finaneial assets under SFRS (T) 9 dunng the
finaneial year for the Group and Company except for the following.

Recetvables from
subsidiaries
A%

Company
Balanece at 1 July 2018 and 1 July 2019 TA5T116
Loss allowance measured
Lifetime ECL:
- Credit impared 5,995 968
Balanece at 30 June 2020 (Mote 18) 13,453,084

The ability of Group fo operate as a going concern and meet its obligations as and when they fall due 1=
prneipally dependent upon the ongoimg support from its sharsholders, the ability of the Group to successfally
raize capital as and when necessary and the ability to complete successful exploration and subsequent
exploitation of the areas of mferest. Thas 15 to enswure the contumance of its activiftes and to meet its financial

Prudent haquidity nisk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents in order to meet the
Group’s forecast requrements. The Group manages homdity risk by confmueuwshy monitormg forecast and
actuzl cash flows and matching the matmity profiles of financial assets and liabibtes. Swplus funds are
generzally only mvested m bank deposits. At reporting date, the Group did not have access to any undmwn
boarmowing fambifies.

Fair value estimation

The camymg amount of financial assets (net of any allowance for mmpaiment) and financial habiifes as
dizclosed m Mote 19(3) are assumed to approxmmate thewr fair valnes primanly due to thew short matunties.

Estmates and judgements ame contmually evaluated and are based on listorical expenence and other factors,
mehding expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the crcumstances.
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Il Capital rizk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to confimue as a going
concern to provide retums for sharshelders and mamtain an optmal capital shuchre to reduce the cost of

capital

The Group defines caprtal as being share capital phos reserves. The Board of Dhrectors monitors the level of

capital a5 compared to the Group's long-term debt commutments.

The Group 15 not subject to any externally imposed capifal requrements.

Mo changes were made to the Group’s and the Company's capifal management objectives or poboes dunng

the financial vears ended 30 June 2020 and 30 Tune 2019

1l.Belated party tranzactions

fa) Compesnzation gf key management perzonnal

Short tarm employves benafits
Superannuation contributions
Share based payments

Includes amounts paid te:
HNon-executrve directors of the Company
Executive Directors

Group

020 2019

AS A%
477,500 532,500
45,363 48,608
730,267 1972 366
1,253,130 2553474
136,87= 195,121
1,116,255 2358353
1,253,130 2553474

Total key management personnel compensation represents gross compensation paid or pavable and mchides
amounts capitalised to exploration and evaluation expendihre and property, plant and equipment.

The following awards were made to directors of the Company pursusnt to the Company’s Emplovee Incentive

Plan are as followrs:
2020 Salary Sacrifice Long Term Loan Funded
Rights Incentive Shares
Number Rights Number
Number
Paul Mulder - -
Tmothy Crossley - -
2019
Paul Mulder - -
Tmmothy Crossley 300,000 00,000
300,000 00,000

Mo awards were exercised, cancelled or lapsed dunng the vear ended 30 fupe 2020 and 30 June 2019.
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23, Contingent Habilities

In September 20135, the Group entered mto 3 Development Management Dead with a thivd party. Under this
deed and its subsequent addendums, the third party 1s to provide services relating to the Lae power project
and any subssquent power projects undertaken by the Group. In addrion to the amowmts paid to the third
party for their services, they are entitled to contingent compensation of A%$140,000 payable upon financial
close of the Lae power project (and likewnse for any other subsequent projects).

In June 2017, the Group entered into two addiional Deeds of appoimntment with third parhes, regarding the
power projects. Under these deeds, the third parties are to provide services relating to Lae power project.
As compensation for their services they are enfitfled to varous payments and'or mmferests m ME Power
Generabon PHNG Pte Lid and ME Energy PHNG Pte Litd, contingent wpon the aclievement of certmin

Third party 1

(z) A%$50,000 fee upon signing of the Power Purchasing Agreement;

(B MTGDMDﬁeemnﬁnanmaldosenfﬂmLaepmmpmjed,

{c) 8% equiy m MFE. Power Generation FMNG Pte Ltd and MF. Energy PNG Pte Lid upon operation
commencement and approval of first shareholder dividend payvment; and

{d) Introduction fee of 3% of proceeds for any imvestors introduced which result in fands being recerved.

Third party 2

{e) Upen achievement of the migning of the Power Pwchase Apreement and subsequent government
guarzntees by a defined date to be determined, 5% miterest m ME. Power Generation PG Pte Lid and
ME. Energy PNG Pte Lid; and

(f) Infroduction fee of 3% of proceeds for any Investors introduced which result in funds being recerved.

These amounts have not been recogmized m the financial statements due to ther payment being contingent
upon future events not wholly within the confrol of the Group.

24, Subsequent events

Except for the matters noted below, there has been no other matter or circumstance which has ansen since
the end of the vear that has sipmficantly affected, or may sigmificantly affect the Group’s opershons, the
result of those operations or the Group”s state of afairs-

(2) Om 2 Tuby 2020, the Group announced 2 maiden ore reserve at its Orokolo Bay Mineral ! Industrial
Sands Project mm Papuz New Gunea. The maiden m-situ Eeserve estumate was prepared m accordance
with JORC by Groundworks Plus, and 15 estmated at 306 MT using a 5.5% Davis Tube Recovery
(approcamately §.2% Fe) cut-off'.

(B} On 7 July 2020, the Company annmounced that a total of 2,643,356 fully pad ordmary shares had been
1ssued on the exercize of the 2,397,106 salary sacnfice nghts and 246,250 long term mcentve nights.
541,329 of the shares 1ssued are subject to a vohmtary escrow penod of 12 months expring on & Faly
2021

* Refor ASK armomrement dated 2 fuly 2020 The Company is not aware of any new mformation or dat thar materially affects the information
inchnded in the referenced A5 announcements and confirms that all material assumptions and technical paramsters underpinming the estimates in
the relevant market mnouncement contme fo apply and have not meterially changed.
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24. Subsequent events (continued)

{c) On 19 August 2020 the Company annownced that the Papua New Gumea had granted a 20-year pinmg
lease for the Central Cement and Lime Project, the final statutory approval requmed to allow
construction to begin on the Project’s vertically ifegrated manufactunng facility located 25km north-
west of Port Moreshy.

(d) Om 9 September 2020, the Company amnounced that 1t had entered mio the followmng mterdependent

agrecments:

i

An Agreement between MPE. Explorzion FNG Pte Ltd. (“MEE™), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company whereby MEE will acquire 100% of the issued capital of Ballygowan Linited
{"Ballyzowan™) and Pacific Arc Awum (Mmgmi) Limited (“Pacific Arc™) in refum for the
shareholders of Ballygowan and Pacific Are collectively recerving shares m MEE equivalent to
thurty per cent of the 15med capital of MEE on completion of the transachon. Ballygowan has a
100%% ownership interest in the Gameta (EL2548), Oredi Creek (EL2572) and Sikut (EL2408)
copper and gold exploration projects in PNG and Pacafic Are has a 100% owmership interest m
the Wapolu (EL2549) copper and gold project m PNG. It 15 2 condition precedent of the
Agreement that MEE recerve all required approvals to complete a histng of it shares (either
divectly or indirectly) on a stock exchanpe m Australia, Canada or the Unsted Emzdom and
that the listed vehicle has raised a minimm of 455 malbon.

An apresment setting out the term and conditons of a proposed busines: combmation (the
“Busmess Combmation”) of XIB I Capital Corp. (“XIB”) and MEE. Under the proposed terms
of the Business Combination, XIB will acqure 100% of the issued capital of MRE following
the completion of MEE"s proposed acqusition of the 1ssued capital of Ballygowan and Pacifie
Are. The significant terms of the Business Combmation, subject to the agreement of defimtive
transachions documents by the parties includes:

As part of and as a condition to the completion of the Business Combination, a
concmrent fmancing will be undertaken and will close concwrently with the execuhon
and delivery of the Defirntrve Agresment for gross proceeds of 2 minmum of Canadian
Diollar, C53,000,000 at an effective price of C30.30 per share on a post-Consolidation
bams (the “Conecurrent Financing ™).

As part of and as a condihon to the complefion of the Busmess Combinaton, it 1s
expected that an mital seed financmz will be undertaken as soonm as reasomably
practicable followmg the execution of the Business Combmation Apresment for gross
proceeds of C$2.000,000 at an effective price of C3$0.15 per share on a post-
Consolidztion basis (the “Seed Financing” and together with the Conmurent Finanems,
the “Financings™), with Mayur participating for C$460,002 of the Seed Financmg.

As part of, and as a condibion to the complefion of the Business Combination, it is
expected that 2 founders financing will be undertaken as soon as reasonably practicable
followmng the execution of the Business Combination Agreement for gross proceeds of
C5120,000 at an effective price of C$0.02 per share on a post-Consohidation basis (the
“Pre-Seed Financing ™).

Upon completion of the Business Combination it 15 infended that-

(1) The Company will hold approxmmately 50.1% of the XIB Shares;

(1) the former shareholders of Ballygowan and Pacific Arc will held apprecomately
16.3%: of the XI5 Shares;

(n)}  the current holders of the MIB will kold approximately 4 4% of the OB Shares;

(wy  the puwchasers under the Finanemgs (pot including the Company) will hold
approccimately 23.9% of HIB Shares; and

(=) the purchasers under the Pre-Seed Financing will hold approsmmately 5.3% of
the 1B Shares.

Following the completion of the Business Combinztion, the board of directors of XIB shall
muhially be compnised of six (6) doectoas, or such other mumber as may be stpulated by the
Company. It is apticipated that nomimees of the Company will comprise a majorty of the XI5
Dhrectors.
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24, Subsequent event: (continued)

(e} On 11 September 2020 the Company ammounced that it had completed a Definttive Feamibility Study (DFS)

®

for the Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project mn Papua New Guinea (PNG). The DFS confirmed that the
project, which produces a mmmber of products including vanadmm titano-marnette (VIN), DMS magnetite,
construchion sands and zircom-nich valiable heavy mineral concentrate and produces a post-tax NPV of
55131 mulhon (10% discount rate) and IR of 103.7%.

On 16 September 2020 announced that it had appointed distinguished FNG business leader and resident Mr
Hubert Hanjamse Mamani as a Non-Executrve Director of the Company.

Umn 22 September 2020, following a stratemic review of its portfolio of mineral exploration tenements, the
Company’s subsidiary Mayor Iron PNG Limited adwvized the Mineral Resources Authority of Papua Mew
Cuinea that it did not wish to proceed with the renewal applicahons for exploration licences F1.2366 and
EL2269 which exped on 13 May 2020. The capitabsed exploration and evaluation expendrture of
AS82 557955 relatmg to L2266 and EL2269 as at 30 Tune 2020 will be mmpaired m the finaneial year ending
30 Fune 2021

15, Awthorization of financial statements

The consohdated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes n equuty of
the Company for the financial vear ended 30 June 2020 were authonsed for 1s5ue m accordance with a resolubion
of the directors dated 30 September 2020.
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Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 22
October 2020.

A Distribution of securities

B Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest holders of equity securities are listed

below:
Analysis of the number of equity securities by size of holding: Name Balance at 21- o
I S a0 "
1-1,000 28 DTJCOPTYLTD 50,000,000 | 27.827%
1,001-5,000 132 .
5.001-10,000 113 QMP NOMINEES PTY LTD 15,268,036 | 8.497%
10,001-100,000 137 LEVEL 280 RIVERSIDE PTY LTD 9,750,000 5.426%
100,001 and over 84
Total 494 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA 7,514,688 4.182%
PTY LIMITED
There were 10 holders of less than a marketable parcel of listed SARGON CT PTY LTD <MAYUR 7,285,371|  4.055%
shares. RESOUR ESP ALLOC A/C>
TIMMOO PTY LTD <THE MAHONY 6,968,958 | 3.879%
FAMILY S/F A/IC>
MR THOMAS JONATHAN CHARLTON 6,193,056 | 3.447%
<THE CHARLTON FAMILY A/C>
MORGAN STANLEY AUSTRALIA 6,153,186 | 3.425%
SECURITIES (NOMINEE) PTY LIMITEL
<NO 1 ACCOUNT>
ASHER CAPITAL PTY LTD <NKF A/C> 5,265,944 2.931%
CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 4,663,773 | 2.596%
<HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 13 A/C>
MR TIMOTHY ELGON SAVILE 3,165,573 1.762%
CROSSLEY
SAK SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD 2,973,318 | 1.655%
<THE KING SUPER FUND A/C>
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 2,923,716 1.627%
MR DUNCAN JOHN HARDIE 2,756,483 | 1.534%
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,528,273 | 1.407%
BRISPOT NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,484,092 1.382%
<HOUSE HEAD NOMINEE A/C>
WRIGHT CORPORATION PTY LTD 1,500,000 | 0.835%
<WRIGHT CORPORATION S/F A/C>
MARFORD GROUP PTY LTD 1,487,500 0.828%
JAMES SINTON SPENCE 1,456,051 0.810%
QUALITY LIFE PTY LTD <THE NEILL 1,450,001 0.807%
FAMILY A/C>
Total Securities of Top 20 Holdings 141,788,019| 78.911%
Total of Securities 179,681,279
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Unquoted equity securities

Number of
Nurbern | Nt of haldrs o e

securities
Long Term Incentive Rights 7,681,250 7 1
Salary Sacrifice Performance Rights 2,172,357 10 1
Exercised PRs - escrowed to 21 March 2021 541,329 2 1
Options 3,000,000 1 1

Unlisted Long-Term Incentive Rights and Performance Rights
represent rights to acquire ordinary shares.

Each right entitles the holder to acquire one ordinary share.

The names of the holders of more than 20% the unlisted long-
term Incentive Rights and Performance Riahts are:

. . Salary Sacrifice .
Long Term Incentive Rights Performance Rights Options
% of total
0, 0,
Security Holder LTI % of tgflisl';;:: PRs " of tg;ailszsz Options Options on
issue
Paul Mulder 3,000,000 39% 215,955 10% 3,000,000 100%
Tim Crossley 1,925,000 25% 266,768 12%

C Substantial shareholders

Substantial shareholders (>5%) in the company are set out below:

DTJCOPTYLTD 50,000,000
QMP NOMINEES PTY LTD 15,268,036
LEVEL 280 RIVERSIDE PTY LTD 9,750,000

D. Listed shares subject to escrow
2,860,323 CDI’s are subject to 12 months voluntary escrow

2,860,323 CDI’s are subject to 24 months voluntary escrow
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E. Voting rights

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set
out below:

+ CDI's

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting
in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll
each share shall have one vote.

«  Options, Long Term Incentive Rights, Salary Sacrifice
Rights and Performance Rights

No voting rights.

F. ASXListing Rule 4.10.19

Mayur Resources Ltd has used the cash and assets in a form
readily convertible into cash at the time of admission in a manner
consistent with its business objectives.
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Corporate Directory

Board of Directors (as at 30 June 2020)

Mr Rob Neale Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Paul Mulder Managing Director
Mr Tim Crossley Executive Director

Mr Frank Terranova Non-Executive Director

Lu Kee Hong Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

Tricor Singapore Pte Ltd

80 Robinson Road #02-00
Singapore 068898
Telephone: +(65) 6236 3333

Registered Office

Tricor Singapore Pte Ltd
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Singapore 068898
Telephone: +(65) 6236 3333

Principal Place of Business

Level 7

300 Adelaide Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
Telephone: +61 7 3157 4400

Postal address

PO Box 10985
Brisbane QLD 4000

Website:

www.mayurresources.com

Share Registry

Boardroom Pty Ltd
Level 12, 225 George Street
Sydney QLD 2000

Telephone:
+61 1300 737 760

Stock Exchange

Australian Securities Exchange
20 Bridge Street
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